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CHAPTER 1 

SSLP-DEtSRtaiTATICK UKTIL I9I8 

The right of national independence, which came to be 

called tli© principle of self-determination,, ia, in general 

terms, the belief that each nation has a right to consti-

tute an independent state and determine its own government, 

It will be the thesis of thia paper to show that the Kazi 

regime under the rule of Adolph Hitler took this principle 

as its own insofar as Its relations with other nations were 

concerned, but while they paid lip service to the principle, 

it was in fact being prostituted to the fullest degree in 

the eaae of Austria a&d the Anschluss of I958* 

However, before the ideas of self-determination can 

be shown to have been prostituted, an understanding of the 

development of the ideas and their connection with modem 

democratic ideas is essential# 

In the modem sense of the word, democracy was born 

in the second half of the eighteenth century. Democratic 

tendencies are to be found before thia time, but these ten-

dencies took the form of assertions of a right of represent-

ing the people in the government, of checking the govern-

ment by the political action of the people, or directing it 



In the interests of the people. With the French Revolu-

tion, demoeraoy become something more, Xt was not merely 

the representation of individuals, much less of classes of 

corporations, in a parliament exercising a constitutional 

control over the government• The people themselves became 

the supreme authority; they passed from the role of sub-

ject to that of sovereign. 

The post-medieval form of the theory of the Divine 

Right of Kings, which, with the exception of England, had 

been the chief political gospel of the early modern period, 

received a mortal blow from the French Revolution, for it 

was replaced by the Divine Right of the People. Under the 

influence of the new national and democratic Ideas, the 

people ceased to be an aggregation of individuals. They 

took a shape and a form, became a unit and were called 

nations, They were the sovereign power and identified with 

the state* The revolutionary theory that a people had the 

right to form its own constitution and choose its own gov-

ernment easily passed into the claim that it had a right to 

decide whether to attach itself to one state or another, or 

constitute an independent state by itself,* The effect of 

the revolutionary ideology was to transfer the initiative 

in state making from the government to the people, Nation-

states had formerly been built up from above, by the forces 

^Sarah Wamhaugh, A Monograph On Plebiscites, p, I4-, 



of government, but from the time of the French Revolution, 

they were to be mad® much more rapidly from below by the 

will of the people. The logical consequence of the democ-

ratization of the idea of the state by the revolutionaries 

was the theory of national self-determination. It must, of 

course, be understood that the demo erat i zat ion of the idea 

of the state was only one factor playing its part in the 

making of the nation-states. 

As France itself was not under the influence of for-

eign powers, the strictly democratic element in revolution-

ary ideology was naturally the one to be emphasized inside 

France. The principle of national self-determination, how-

ever, received practical application during the early years 

of the Revolution. It appeared in the attitude which the 

French Assembly adopted towards the proposal for the union 

with France of Avignon and Venaissin in I79I, and of Savoy 

and Nice in the following year, A series of speakers urged 

that only the clearly expressed will of the populations con-

cerned could Justify a change in sovereignty, and the Assem-

bly decreed that before annexation, a formal expression of 

the will of the people should be obtained by the holding of 

plebiscites, which were conducted on the whole with remark-

able impartiality.2 

2Ibld.. pp. 5I4., 36, 10, 



This idealistic frame of mind did not survive for long 

in an unadulterated form, The change in revolutionary pol-

icy was inaugurated by Cambon's Report of 15 December 1792, 

in which revolutionary zeal carried the day over democratic 

idealism. The Report authorized the destruction of the 

existing authorities in the conquered countries and the 

establishment of revolutionary governmenta by fore©.5 Prom 

this point forward, the Revolution rapidly diverged into 

paths of aggression, and as a result, its own principles 

were turned against it» The consequent rise of national 

feeling in the conquered countries proved to be the force 

which shattered the Napoleonic Empire, and the downfall of 

Napoleon brought the re-establishment of the anti-democratic 

and anti-national governments of the old regimes. However, 

the idea was not by any means dead; in fact, it grew. 

This growth of the theory of self-determination was 

not a simple growth in thought» Great social and economic 

forces were at work and the rise of national consciousness 

can not be separated from the growth of a new middle-class 

society. The principle of nationality reached its height 

between I8I4.8 and 1870 and found its expression in a series 

of plebiscites. It was recognized by the Crimean Congress 

when it was decided in 1856 that a plebiscite should be con-

ducted under international supervision In Moldavia and 

3lbid., p. i+6. 



Wallachia to determine their f u t u r e M a z 2 i n i was the 

greatest supporter of the idea, and its greatest apparent 

triumph was the union of Italy under the leadership of 

Yietor Emmanuel II.^ - However, this new theory was dis-

rupting as well as unifying in its influence• The logic 

of the theory was that if any state could not persuade its 

people to regard themselves as a single national community, 

and so become a nation-state, that state must lose its 

unity and fly apart into its various elements. Hence, the 

disintegration of the Austrian and Turkish Empires. The 

history of the theory of self-determination is primarily 

the history of the making of nations and the breaking up 

of states#6 

lith the appearance of the principle of self-deter-

mination out of the first and more democratic phase of the 

French Revolution, and its subsequent development in a 

series of long struggles with the autocratic empires of 

Napoleon, the Hapsburgs, and the Romanovs, the connection 

between the nationalist and democratic movement became 

strongly established. World War I, after the fall of 

Russia, was fought by a group of parliamentary state© 

against three great autocratic empires, and it seemed to 

strengthen this association by carrying it to its highest 

klbld., p. 12. 5lbld,, p. 95• 

^Ernest Barker, Kational Character, third edition, p. 128. 



point. By 1918, national consciousness and democracy were 

generally taken aa synonymous in the thought of the Western 

nations. The nation-state was regarded by those states 

that subscribed to the principle of self-determination m 

the political expression of the democratic will of the 

people. 

This, however, was not necessarily so. The success of 

national revolts in the latter part of the eighteenth cen-

tury and nineteenth century, when they did succeed, were 

not the victory of democratic virtues unaided by force. On 

the contrary, nations achieved their independence only when 

they had the backing of an effective and strong military 

force. Vihere the military existed, as it did in the United 

States and the other nations of the Western Hemisphere, re-

volt was successful. But where it was lacking, as it was 

in Poland, independence was not achieved. It is also nota-

ble that the democratic elements were quite restricted. 

The wishes of the people were not represented by a direct 

vote, but by the election of an assembly, often on a very 

narrow franchise. The significant point is that the theory 

of nationalism and democracy may not be innately connected, 

and they could have gained fchelr recent association through 

historical accident. 

The association of nationalism and democracy is more 

difficult in the light of the development of German political 

thinking. National unity in Prance and England was the net 



result of the medieval monarchies, whereas Germany remained 

politically divided until the second half of the nlntt@ea.tli 

century, and too, the development of German political life 

and thought dictated a course for the national idea very 

different from that which had been followed In the rest of 

Europe. The absolute authority of the state was an accepted 

idea without qualifications, and there was virtually no re-' 

sistance to the idea, aa there was in Prance and England, 

In fact, while Prussia was In the climax of state worship 

under the leadership of Frederick the Great, France was get-

ting ready for a revolution that was to be the end of the 

Bourbons and absolutism. 

Germany did not remain uninfluenced by the democratic 

trend of opinion, as the Revolution of l8l|.8 testified. At 

this time, the national and democratic principle of self-

determination was accepted in the form of a policy of vol-

untary and democratic unification for all Germany, but this 

was a common policy. The President of the Frankfort Assem-

bly was able to say with regard to the problem of Sohleswigt 

1 believe that it would be no breach of faith of 
the cause of Schleswig, no treason against the cause 
of Germany, if, supposing that a part of Schleswlg 
should express the desire not to remain as a part of 
Germany, this desire should be complied with,( 

However, after the war with Denmark, Prussia was no longer 

willing to submit questions of secession to a plebiscite, 

and liberal Germany was a thing of the past* 

» SR* p. 879. 

mailto:nlntt@ea.tli
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Another notable point about the development of German 

thinking was the fact that the failure of the Revolution of 

18)4.8 emphasizes the sovereignty of the nation far and above 

the rights of the individuals therein. Consequently, the 

democratic and liberal elements were limited and absorbed 

very quickly as the Prussian monarchy emerged as the domi-

nant force in German political thought• Prussia became the 

guiding light of the developing Germany, and as its power 

became stronger there emerged a powerful, closely Integrated, 

absolutist state that was steeped in tradition# Further, 

its very character insured its continuance. Nonetheless, 

the growth of the German nation-state under the Hohenzol-

lems was a kind of self-determination. The difference was 

the political context into which the Prussians put it, 

7h® weakening of the forces of liberal nationalism was 

not a localized occurrence in Germany alone• One of the 

leading characteristics of the latter half of the nineteenth 

century was the active policy of many states to denational-

ize their minority groups and re-educate them to an aggres-

sive imperialism, which was designed to benefit the nation-

state as a whole, With a policy such as this in many states, 

there was nothing for the theory of self-determination to do 

but recede. For those who did not adhere to the policy of 

the militant Imperialism that ran rampant, there was the 

socialist ideology, which took nationalism as a move to di-

vert the workers from their destiny. Some schools of 



socialism went so far as to condemn democracy, especially 

as it worked in the capitalistic society, and ultimately, 

both of the elements of the theory of self-determination 

were viewed with suspicion. 

Actually, the socialist movement had little or no 

effect in terras of decisive Influence over any state before 

World War 1, for no state was governed by a socialist re-

gime, Consequently, the major opposition to the Ideology 

of self-determination cane from the forces of imperialism 

and the tendency toward expansion with which they were asso-

ciated. To be specific, the greatest deterrent to self-

determination at the turn of the twentieth century was the 

powers of Central and Eastern Europe, namely, Germany, 

AU3tr1a-Hungary, and Russia. So strong had they become, 

that the smaller states around and between them were lit-

erally forced on the defensive# For these smaller states, 

independence appeared to be an impossibility. 

In the early years of the current century, Charles 

Sel^nobos, a French historian, wrote that the national 

movement was in its decline, lie pointed out that, except 

for Norway and the Balkans, no nation had achieved inde-

pendence for over fifty years, and that the annexation of 

Schlesvig and Lorraine by the German Empire was quite def-

initely a regression of the theory of self-determination. 

In fact, governments had become so strong that "the hope 
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of winning their independence by force of arms is closed 

henceforth to little nations oppressed by foreigners,"® 

There was considerable evidence to support such a view. 

So long as Germany, Axis tr la-Hungary, and Russia dominated 

Eastern Europe, there was little hop© for national self-

determination in that quarter, England and Russia held 

control over the greater part of Asia, and Africa was di-

vided among the great powers of Europe with little exception. 

In the Vies tern Hemisphere, the United States covered dollar 

diplomacy with the Monroe loctrine. 

However, as World War I developed, the theory of na-

tional self-determination revived and rapidly advanced to a 

position that was apparently one of universal acceptance. 

Initially, it played practically no part in the formulation 

of Allied policies, as the Belgian and Serbian questions 

could easily be generalized into a defense of the independ-

ence of 3mall states»9 The French based their claim to 

Alsace-Lorraine on historic grounds, and the terms of the 

well-known secret treaties that the Allies signed with 

Italy, Rouraania, Japan and Russia pointed out only too 

clearly that the principle of national self-determination 

was not foremost in the minds of the Western Powers, 

The outbreak of a general European war encouraged dis-

contented minorities everywhere, and the mere presence of 

^Charles Seignobos, Lea Aspiration? Autonomistea En 
I, p. x» 

^Sidney 5« Pay, The Origins of the World War. II, $10* 
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these minorities gave to "both sides opportunities that they 

could not afford to nogloot. The Allies took the professed 

point of view that they were fighting for the righta of 

small nations, using the invasion and occupation of Belgium 

and Serbia to support their case# The German and Austrian 

governments countered this with their joint notes of 11 Jan-

uary I9I7. 

If the adversaries demand above all the restor-
ation of invaded rights and liberties, the recognition 
of the principle of nationalities and of the free 
existence of small states, it will suffice to call to 
mind the tragic fate of the Irish and Finnish peoples, 
the obliteration of the freedom and independence of 
the Boer Republics, the subjection of North Africa by 
Great Britain, Prance, and Italy, and, lastly, the 
violence brought to bear on Greece for which there is 
no precedent in history.*® 

The interesting thing to notice in this case is the differ-

ence in the Western and Central conception of nationality. 

For the Western Powers, the political entity of Belgium and 

Serbia constituted the crucial issue. For the Central Powers, 

the maintenance of a cultural unity was the crucial Issue. 

This distinction had its manifestations in the war policies 

of both sides in that the Germans were quick to dismember 

the western reaches of the Russian Empire so as to gather 

all German peoples into one fold. It is true that Germany 

was attempting to build a series of "buffer" states be-

tween herself and Russia, but it was notable that these 

10J. B. Scott, editor, Official Statements of War Aims 
and Peace Proposals, Deoember"l'9X^^o^oviSirr''"lUTS, p.TJIjT 
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"buffer,r states were mad© up primarily of people who were 

non-Germanic In their culture, and those territories which 

held people of the German!c culture were assimilated into 

the German state# The Western Powers were reluctant to 

appeal to the minorities of the Austro-Hungarian Empire to 

rebel and hence cause internal strife within the Central 

Powers. Too^ the Western Powers realized that if the min-

orities within the Austro-iiungarian Empire succeeded in a 

rebellion, the economic unity of the region would be de-

stroyed and ultimately would handicap the general economic 

recovery of Europe once peace was restored. 

With regard to Allied policy, it must also bo remem-

bered that the Allies were tied to Tsarist Russia, and so 

long as they had bonds with Russia, there could be no gen-

eral recognition by the Allies of the principle of self-

determination. Russia not only had her own minorities, 

which she had no intention of freeing, but also her foreign 

policy was dictated by imperialistic and not nationalistic 

ideals. Kaaaryk said in later years that it was not until 

after the fall of Tsarist Russia that he felt easy about 

proclaiming that the objects of the Allied policy were "the 

liberation of small peoples and the strengthening of democ-

racy. The way was opened to the Allies with the advent 

of the Russian Revolution when the Russian Provisional 

G. Masaryk, The Making of a State, p. 152. 
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Government made the announcement in 19x7 that they would aim 

to establish peace on the basis that all nations had the 

right to determine their own future and destiny* The major 

deterrent against proclaiming themselves advocates of self-

determination was removed for the Allies, and almost im-

mediately, the Allies took self-determination to be an offi-

cial war aim. 

Soon after the Tsarist regime collapsed, the Russian 

army fell to Germany, and the Bolshevik government which 

followed, took the policy of peace at any price in order to 

satisfy the v/ide-spread popular demand and save the Revolu-

tion. Such a policy furnished the Central Powers the 

opportunity to end the war on the eastern front, and at the 

same time show what their postwar plans were. At Brest-

Litovsk, the Russian government put the principle of self-

determination into the center of the negotiations, and for 

the first time in the war, it v/as the dominant interest 

From then on, it remained high on the list of vrar aims, at 

lesst insofar as lip service was paid to it. 

In accord with the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, the major 

part of the Russian frontier was ta!:en by the Germans, who 

quickly dispatched occupation troops into all of the lib-

erated provinces and set up puppet governments that were 

anything but representative. Thus they had actively 

IP 
• J. W, Wheeler-Benne11, Brest-Litovsks The Forgotten 

Peace, March. 1918, p. 273. 
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contradicted their proclamations of adherence to the Ideas 

of seIf-determination. Within the frame of Allied inter-

pretation, events clearly demonstrated that the power within 

Germany was exercised by the High Command, and defeat at 

the hands of Germany would probably mean dismemberment• By 

disclosing their probable intentions, the High Command 

pushed the Allies to the degree of cooperation necessary to 

bring victory,*5 

The Russian Revolution was the turning point in the 

war as far as the principle of self-determination was con-

cerned, for Germany had demonstrated its aims, which in 

turn had its effect on the Allied attitude toward subject 

nationalities. All through the war, there had been currents 

of opinion favoring a generous definition of the war aims 

with regard to nationalities, fhe national appeal had been 

used when it fitted into German plans as official policy, 

only to be disregarded if it countered them. But in the 

Allied countries, the idea of self-determination had its 

genua outside official circles in the various nationalistic 

minorities. It appeared for the first time In a British 

Foreign Office memorandum on territorial settlement in the 

fall of 1916. This document said: 

His Majesty's Government have announced that one 
of their chief objects in the present war is to ensure 
that all states of Europe, great and small, shall in 

x3lbld.. p. 566. 
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the future be in a position to achieve their national 
development in freedom and security* It is dear, 
moreover, that no peace can be satisfactory to this 
country unless it promises to "be durable, and an essen-
tial condition of such a peace is that it should give 
full scope to national aspirations as far as practicable. 
The principle of nationality should therefore be one of 
the governing factors in the consideration of territor-
ial arrangements after the war.34 

This same memorandum recognized that the British Government 

was limited in this stand by its pledges to its allies. 

Likewise, the British limited the application of self-deter-

mination to the extent that they were not willing to follow 

the idea if it appeared that it would strengthen any nation 

which might threaten the peace of Europe in the future• 

The man who did the most to coagulate the general idea 

of self-determination into one of the officially recognized 

policies of the Allies was Woodrow Wilson, who took the 

idea as part of his academically evolved political philos-

ophy. He was the person who worked the idea from general-

ities down into specific proposals. As early as 11 Feb-

ruary I917, he was calling it "an imperative principle of 

action."̂ -5 in reply to Wilson's Peace Note of January 1917, 

the remainder of the Allies called for the "liberation of 

Italians, of Slavs, of Roumanians, and of Cgecho-Slovaks 

from foreign domination,w and "the enfranchisement of pop-

ulations subject to the bloody tyranny of the Turks. 

34b. Lloyd George, The Truth About the Peace Treaties, 
p. 31. Ho author of this memorandum was mentioned. 

15Scott, o£, clt.. 11 February 1918, p. 268. ^%bid., p. 57. 



16 

It has been pointed out that the Allies did hot mean quite 

what they said, as they had originally made reference to the 

Italians, Southern Slavs and Roumanians• When this was 

written, it was with reference to the secret treaty obli-

gations and the known Serbian hope of getting Bosnia, Herze-

govina and Dalmatla* The Italians had the reference to 

Southern Slavs changed to aimply Slavs, as they did not 

want to encourage the Serbians, Also, Masaryk used his 

influence to get the addition of the Czecho-Slovaks.^ 

Wilson solidified his ideas early in 1918 within the 

Fourteen Points, but even these were limited in their scope 

insofar as self-determination was concerned. Both Wilson 

and Colonel House believed that Aus t r i a -Hungary was a polit-

ical necessity for the well-being of Europe, and although 

they promised the opportunity for autonomous development, 

they did so on the basis that it would be as Auatria-Hun~ 

gary and not as it turned out to be.1^ 

The development of the principle of self-determination 

was hampered by the apparent inability of the Allies to 

think in terms of the disintegration of the Austro-Hungar-

ian Empire, which was perhaps a result of the lack of a 

feeling of animosity toward the Austrian®» MaaaryJc was 

able to report that nowhere had the idea of destroying the 

*7c. A# Macartney, National States and national Minor-
itins. pp. 18^*185• 

iScharles Seymour, The Intimate Papers of Colonel 
House, III, 5I4.6. 
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Aliatro-Kungar ian Empire occurrsd to the Allies# He said, 

"Austria was generally looked upon as a counterpoise to 

Germany, as a necessary organization of small peoples and 

odds and ends of peoples, and as a safeguard against 'bal-

kanization1 ."19 The British and French bad been well steeped 

in the tradition that Auotria-iiun^ary was a necessity, and 

it was looked on as a kind of conservative influence. Fur-

ther, they believed that the tual Monarchy was naturally a 

pacific influence in European politics because of its inter-

nal difficulties,^0 There was also the fear, which later 

came to the fore in Article 80 of the Treaty of Versailles 

mriri Article 83 of the Treaty of St. Germain, that if the 

tostr©-Hungarian Empire broke up, the German elements would 

unite with Germany, and the possibility of such an event 

was viewed with considerable alarm among the Allies. 

The year I9I8 aaw a considerable extension of the 

principle of self-determination, the first important prac-

tical step being the holding of a Congress of Oppressed 

Nationalities at Rome in April 1918 under Italian sponsor-

ship, The attendance included Italians, Roumanians, Czecho-

slovaks t Poles and Southern Slavs• Perhaps the most impor-

tant consequence of this meeting was the removal of the 

outstanding barrier in the way of recognition of the claims 

19Masaryk, op, clt,. p, 2I4U. 

w, V, Temper ley, editor, A History of the Peace 
Conference, IV, I76, 
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of the subject nationalities of the Dual Monarchy by the 

signing of an agreement between the head of the Italian 

Parliamentary Commission and the leaders of the Yugo-Slav 

latlonal Council, which engaged both parties 

. . • to decide amicably • • . pending territorial 
questions on the basis of the principle of national-
ities and of the right of peoples to dispose of their 
own destinies, and that so as not to prejudice the 
vital interests of the two nations, which will be 
defined at the moment of the peace ,*1 

The last clause reduced the rest of the agreement to nothing, 

and actually left the Italian Government without an official 

commitment, but it served its purpose, and whether or not it 

had any value made no difference. 

As the internal disintegration of the Austrian Empire 

became obvious, the Allied declarations about self-determi-

nation became stronger and stronger until Wilson was able 

to reply on 18 October 1918 to an Austrian note that auton-

omy as a satisfactory answer to the aspirations of the sub-

ject nationalities was not enough, and that it was for those 

people to decide for themselves "what action on the part of 

the Austro-Hungarian Government will satisfy their aspir-

ations and their conception of their rights and destiny as 

00 
members of the family of nations, 

23-H» F. Armstrong, The Kew Balkans. p. 65, 

223cott, o£# cit», pp« )4284*29. 
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The development of the Allied policy of'self-determi-

nation was primarily the result of the actions of the var-

ious nationalities and the progress of the war; the adop-

tion of the idea as a policy came, for the most part, as a 

consequence of this action, usually by minorities. This 

was especially true with regard to the llapsburg Empire, but 

by no means was this an isolated instance. Similar happen-

ings were in progress in the Russian and Turkish Empires, 

and the cause of nationalism was advancing generally. As 

the war drew to a close, wherever there was a minority or 

subject nationality, national armies were mustered and 

national governments were organized, and by the time actual 

hostilities had ceased, the stronger of these nationalist 

movements had already used the Allied policy of self-deter-

mination as a fact. Consequently, the Peace Conference was 

not faced with the problem of creating new states because 

they had already created themselves out of the disorder 

which cane with the fall of the Central Powers. All that 

the Peace Conference had to do was put a stamp of approval 

on these new states and formally delimit their boundaries, 

but even this turned into a rather complex problem. 

The Western Powers had not called the force of nation-

ality into being, and they had been quite reluctant to 

reeo.rriize it, but they did use it to hasten the end of the 

hostilities. However, by the act of recognizing and using 

the idea, they had committed themselves to it. Actxxally, 



Wilson probably pushed the idea to limits that the Allies 

<5id not want, as there were those who saw that it would fee 

almost impossible to reconcile the principle with, the real* 

istic national and Imperialistic ambitions of the victors, 

nonetheless, the general opinion seeraa to have expected a 

settlement "based on aelf-determination, at least insofar 

as it would he to the victors» benefit, and the Allies 

Hirer® very definitely committed to it. 



CHAPTER II 

SEU'-BETBEI'IH ATI 01, 193,8-1932 

When the Pea©© Conference opened in 1919# the guiding 

light of Its over-all policy was to be the principle of 

self-determination, However, circumstances had placed self-

determination in the prominent piece it held, and Wilson 

had, in a sense, forced it upon the rest of the Allies when 

he was not able to get the Inter-Allied Conference to pro-

claim the war aims he wanted• By announcing his Fourteen 

Points, Wilson hoped to counteract the effect of the revela-

tion of the secret treaties hy the Bolsheviks, keep Russia 

in the war, and launch an effective propaganda offensive 

against Germany** Once Wilson's principles had been pub-

lished, the Allies could not hold out against them, for an 

Inter-Allied Parliamentary Commission of French, Belgian, 

Italian and British representatives had proclaimed their 

acceptance of the principle of nationality in October 1918, 

Hence, when the German Government made its proposals for 

an armistice, the Allied Governments replied that they were 

willing to negotiate a peace on the terms laid down by Wilson 

in his speech of 8 January 1918, but the Allies did require 

3-Charles Seyrcour, The Intimate Papers of Colonel House, 
III, 5214.-326, 

21 
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qualifications regarding freedom of the seas and the ques-

tion. of reparations. How far the Allies were actually com-

mitted to Wilson's program has been argued considerably, but 

it Is notable that Balfour and Clemenceau sent a note to 

Tittoni during the dispute over the Italian frontier that 

said, "All four are pledged to the principle of self-deter-

mination," 2 Actually, parts of the demands of the Fourteen 

Points were incompatible with the practicalities of self-

determination, and neither the British nor the Americans 

intended to apply the principle to colonial possessions. Too, 

there were situations in Europe that would have been prac-

tically impossible to work out under the principle, but 

nevertheless, most of the world thought that the Allies were 

conanitted to self-determination in its most absolute form, 

and that it would be put into practice,. 

The representatives of the several nations who assem-

bled at Paris were not so idealistic as Wilson, for they 

were the ones who had used the appeal of self-determination 

for the purposes of war. This is not to say that they were 

not willing to use it, for they were, but they intended to 

do so only in oases where it did not conflict with their own 

national interests. 

For instance, in the pre-Armistlce negotiations, Italy 

wanted to introduce a reservation to Point IX which would 

Hunter Miller, Sy Diary at the Peace Conference, 
XX, 362. 1 ^ " 
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make it clear to everyone that Italy expected to receive 

the frontier which she regarded as necessary for tier secu-

rity, regardless of ethnic considerations or the withes of 

the populations concerned, Orlando dropped the protest 

when tlx© Allies argued that the frontiers of Italy were not 

concerned in the negotiations with Germany, which was the 

immediate problem, "but the Italian reservation was never 

given to the Central Powers.5 The Italians had fought all 

through the war under a policy of gaining all that was pos-

sible for the state under the provisions of the Treaty of 

London, and they continued the same policy in the Peace 

Conference, but under the guise of adhering to the Fourteen 

Points, which was supposed to deceive every one, but actu-

ally did nothing but weaken their stand. 

The French attitude was much more complicated. The 

project which the French Government had prepared for the 

Conference proposed to remove one serious obstacle to the 

policy of self-determination by cancelling all inter-Allied 

treaties, and called for the right of a people to decide 

their own futures. This suggestion was understandable since 

the dominant figure of the French legation was Clemenceau, 

who had little tolerance for Wilsonian ideals.^- Clenienceau 

declared to Lloyd George: 

3R. Albrecht-Currie, Italy at the Paris Peace Confer-
ence. pp. 61-66, 

filler, Diary, II, !+, 
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. . . he did not believe is the principle of self-
determination, which allowed a man to clutch at your 
throat the firat time it was convenient to him, and 
he would not consent to any limitation of time being 
placed upon the enforced separation of the Rhenish 
Republic from the rest of Germany*5 

The British delegation was less reserved in its atti-

tude toward self-determination than the French, but it had 

some doubt, Balfour, on the principle that strong frontiers 

made for peace, had expressed to Wilson earlier the view 

that strategic necessity should in souse cases be allowed to 

over-ride the principle of nationality,** However, the Brit-

ish were generally prepared to support a consistent and 

thorough-going application of the principle of self-deter-

mination in Europe* The real inconsistency in the British 

attitude arose from the existence of their large eolonial 

empire, During the war, Lloyd George had held that the 

principle of national self-determination was as applicable 

in the case of the colonies as in those of occupied Euro-

pean territories,? but the British Government did not seri-

ously contemplate putting the principle into practice in 

its own colonies, or in the German colonies either. 

Even the American delegation, which was the chief pro-

ponent of the principle of self-determination, was not united 

Lloyd George, fhe Truth About the Peace Conference. 
p• 286 ® 

{ 
"Seymo-u#., 0£. clt,, III, 53. 

?f» V. femperley, A History of the Peace Conference » 
II, 227. " ~~~* ~ 
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on the question. Wilson's Secretary of State, Robert 

Lansing, revealed hie violent opposition to the President's 

program when he descr: bod the principle as 11 loaded with dyna-

mite," and continued by saying that it was bound to be dis-

credited aa the dream of an idealist who did not realize 

the dangers and impracticalitles involved* Lansing pointed 

out that both Canada «ind the United States continued to 

exist only because of their denial of the principle, and 

that if self-determlnsttion had been accepted, the Southern 

States would have been allowed to secede and French Canada 

would have formed an independent state. Consideration of 

the national safety, historic rights, and economic inter-

ests, which would be ever-ridden by it, should all have 

preference over the principle of aeIf-de termlnation•® 

:jderstanding of Wilson's conception of 

the fact that, for him, it was entirely 

The key to the un 

self-determination is 

a corollary of democratic theory* His political thinking 

was derived from the € 

French and the America 

emocratic and national ideals of the 

n Revolutions, and even though he was 

of the generation that had accepted the Union, he was still 

of the school of the Compact Theory of government„ Wilson's 

political inheritance is expressed in his address to Con-

gress on 2 April 1917, which recommended a declaration of a 

%iobert Lansing, fhe Peace SegotiatlonSi, pp. 97-lOlu 
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stat® of war. Herein Wilson coupled, as the aims America 

should uphold, the Ideals of democracy and the rights m & 

liberties of small nations,^ 

SeIf-deteroination was to Wilson almost another word 

for popular sovereignty. In this, he followed the French 

and American political tradition. Hence, his tendency to 

appeal to the peoples of the world over the heads of their 

government, which provoked a violently hostile reaction 

when he attempted to influence the Italian people against 
10 

their own government, For Wilson, the voice of the peo-

ple was the voice of god, and Rousseau's General Will was 

not merely an idealistic will, but the actual will of pop*-

ulations. It had only to be freed of the self-interests 

of autocratic governments for its innate goodness to be 

manifested, 

Y/ilson was firmly convinced of the goodness of the 

people's will, and because of this belief, he also believed 

in the possibility of building up a new and better inter-

national order on the basis of national sovereignty which 

assumed the democratic will of the people to be dominant« 

Wilson's close association of self-determination and nat-

ional sovereignty was shown in a comment he made on Article 

X of the League Covenant, In a speech on 2l\. September I9I9, 

9Seymour, o£, cit,, II, I4.69, 

10Albrecht-Currie, o£» cit,, pp, li(){-ll{.5» 
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he said that because national soverolfpity was dependent on 

tli# will of the people, no government could be guaranteed 

11 

by the League, This combination of a faith In the people 

with an unwillingness to interfere with national sovereignty 

will explain why Wilson rejected the idea of International 

government and relied on world opinion as the ultimate sanc-

tion for international peace, but aa expressed through Indi-

vidual nations. 

The greatest limitation to the application of the prin-

ciple of self-determination for Wilson was that he could not 

say it was the function of the Peace Conference to re-plan 

the world on the lines of that principle» Although h® had 

acted and spoken as though this were the function of the 

Peace Conference, upon closo examination lis had to admit that} 
It was not within the privilege of the conference 

of peace to act upon the right of seIf-determinafcion 
of any peoples except those which had been Included In 
the territories of the defeated powers#!^ 

Evidently, the British and American delegations to the 

Peace Conference wanted to confine self-determination to 

Europe alone, and the French and Italian delegations did not 

want it at all. Further, the Allies did not go to the Con-

ference with a free hand to draw up new frontiers, for many 

claims had already been made and occupied, and only a large 

•̂ •E. Baker and N• Dodd, editors, The Public Papers of 
Woodrow Wilson, War and Peace. II, 575-376. 

12Ibid., II, 22k• 
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military action would hair® succeeded in invalidating those 

claims, Thus, in a practical sense, the adoption of a 

strict policy of self-determination was an impossibility* 

The Peace Conference had another major obstacle, •which 

was finding a generally valid definition of the conditions 

a nation should satisfy before it could legitimately claim 

a right of se If-de t errainat ion. This was implicitly the 

basic problem of the entire theory, for before any Judgment 

could be made, it had to be ascertained to what kind of a 

community It applied, The Germans at Breat-Litovsk had 

salds 

The assertion that the right of self-determination 
la an attribute of nations, and not parts of nations, 
is not our conception of the right of self-determina-
tion* Farts of nations can justly conclude indepen-
dence and separation*** 

The leaders of the nations that were to form the successor 

states of Austria-Hungary took the opposite point of view. 

The Serbs said that when President Wilson spoke of the self-

determination of nations, "his thoughts never went as far as 

the small communities.*1^ Maaaryk expressed the same view 

of the principle when he asked whether self-determination 

applied only to a whole ethnic group, or to sections of a 

group as well.15 In practice, the disintegrating process 

*•3j. Mattem, The Employment of the Plebiscite in the 
Determination of Sovereignty.P. i?5. 

^Temper ley, o£. c i t I V , 209* 

*5T. G. Maaaryk, The Making of a State„ p. 386. 
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of selfet ermination had to b© stepped at some point, "but 

on v/hat basis that point could be fixed the Allies were 

hard put to find an answer. 

There was a general tendency to believe tbat language 

rras an adequate test of nationality. In Burope, the growing 

consciousness of nationality had attached Itself neither to 

traditional frontiers nor to new geographical associations, 

•J / 

Instead, the attachment ras to mother tongues. ©lis w&s 

true generally, but there were enough exceptions to it to 

deny it practical value, and too, it was not universally 

accepted by the nations claiming self-determination. Hence, 

the Poles claimed territory from Germany on the basis of 

the language spoken by its inhabitants, but they would net 

follow the same argument in East Calicla or in the Russian 

provinces where the language was other than Polish. Slut* 

larly, Greece claimed the Albanian speaking areas of North* 

era Epirus on the ground that they were Greek in their nat-

ional sentiments 

When the Peace Conference found that language was not 

a reliable test of nationality, the next logical device 

was the plebiscite when an issue was in doubt# The British 

were generally ready to employ it, as they did not have the 

J• Toynbee, ffae World After the P#iim Conference. 
P. 18. 

^?Ecrold Kicolson, Peacemaking^ 1919. p. 208. 
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faith of the Americans in the objectivity of nationality. 

The holding of plebiscites in the more debatable areas 

claimed by both Germany and Poland was primarily Sue to the 

l8 

insistence of Llo^d George-, He expressed his sentiments 

in a memorandum to the Conference when lie said, "I am 

strongly adverse to transferring more Germans from German 

rule to the rule of some other state than can possibly be 
helped,"^9 

Actually, the number of plebiscites that were held 

was far fewer than expected, especially in view of the con-

sideration that the theory of self-determination and the 

device of the plebiscite were so closely connected,^® In 

practice, the Americana thought that their team of experts 

could provide better evidence of the lines of national divi-

sions and affiliations than could be obtained from plebis-
p\ 

cites of the concerned populations. The Italians, who 

could have put their claims on the basis of treaty right of 

strategic necessity, chose to appeal to the right of self-

determination, but they did not contemplate the possibility 

of a plebiscite of the non-Italian populations they wanted 

to annex to Italy, The anxiety of the Italian delegation to 

•^sarah Wambaugh, Plebiscites Since the World War* I, li}., 

"^Temperley, op, cit,, VI, 259, 

2^Wambaugh, op, cit,, I, 1J, 

21Mlller, Diary. XIX, 99-100, 
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avoid any general acceptance of the principle of the plebis-

cite came out olearly in the peace negotiations. 

The French claimed Alsace-Lorraine on historic grounds, 

and there was doubt whether a plebiscite would give a clear 

majority for re-union with F r a n c e . x t was estimated that 

about half a million French had left the two provinces be-

tween 1871 and I910, and some i+OG^OOO Germans had moved in 

to take their place,^ which meant that in all probability, 

a plebiscite would result in a large vote for Germany. 

Sine© even the Fourteen Points allocated Alsace-Lorraine to 

Prance, the probability of such a vote would have placed 

the Allies in a rather unpleasant position. Consequently, 

no plebiscite was held, and an unpleasant situation was 

avoided at the price of ignoring self-determination. 

On the whole, the reluctance to use the plebiscite was 

impressive, though it would seem that there could have been 

no better means of securing genuine self-determination. 

Generally, the opposition to the use of the plebiscite earn© 

from the Allies, especially from the lesser states, while 

the demand for them came from the defeated powers as a sort 

of defensive tool in hopes that as much territory could be 

2%lller, Diary. XVII, 186-188. 

2 % l l e r , Diary. XX, &2-3i0. 

2kpemperley, op. pit.. II, 166, 168, 
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saved as possible. Apparently, each side was prepared to 

appeal to the principle when it helped In the defense of 

national interests, and to discard It when its influence was 

unfavorable. On the other hand, however, it was also true 

that the delegates at Paris did not expect the theory of 

self-determination to be applied without regard to other 

considerations# Even when plebiscites were noId, as in 

Sehleswig, the Allies agreed that the frontiers iser© to be 

dravm "according to a line baaed on the result of the vote®, 

and proposed by the International Commission, and taking 

into account the particular geographical and economic con-

ditions of the localities in question,"25 

The new states that were constituted "by the peace set-

tlement were far from being the results of a strict appli-

cation of the principle of self-determination# The -union 

of the Slovaks with the Czechs represented an aspiration 

toward national identity rather than an existent fact * In 

the same state, the Ruthenea v/ero treated practically a® a 

colonial people, and there was only a pretence at consulting 

their wishes« The Bohemian Germans were also included 

with -.he Czechs primarily on the basis that they were some* 

thing of a remnant element that no one knew how to handle. 

Similarly, In Poland, a large Ukrainian and White Russian 

population waa annexed regardless of their wishes or natural 

filler, Clary. X, 153, 
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affiliations* In the new Roumania, there ware Included 

millions of Magyars and a large member of Saxon Germans, 

as well as nunerous other non -Rounanian element a who .tore 

united with tlie Rouroanians irrespective of their wishes or 

affiliations. 

'•Vila on mis partially aware of the failure of hi a plan 

to re-draw the world in accordance with the principle of 

self--determination, "but he hoped to continue tho proooss 

within the League of SatIons, In a speech on 17 September 

I9I9> he expressed the idea that, if the desire of any peo-

ple for self-determination might affect the peace, then the 

League should intervene. In his original draft of the Cov-

enant, there m a a clause specifically providing for the 

further progress of self-determination. His wording ram 

The Contracting Powers unite in guaranteeing to 
each other political independence and territorial in-
tegrity; hut it is understood "between them that such 
territorial readjustments, if any, as may In the future 
be come necessary "by reason of changes in present racial 
conditions and aspirations or present social and polit-
ical relationships, pursuant to the principle of self-
determination, and also such territorial readjustments 
as may in the judgment of three-fourths of the Delegates 
be demanded by the welfare and manifest Interest of the 
peoples concerned, may be effected, if agreeable to 
those peoples,27 

This was not strictly in accord with the idea of national 

sovereignty as Wilson had maintained it, but he had been 

263aker and Sodd, o£. cit., XI, 22k. 

"Junter filler, The Drafting of the Covenant. II, 12* 
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subjected to considerable pressure, and finally the clause 

was reduced to the non-committal"form of Article X of the 

adopted Covenant. Thus, even for future use, the principle 

was held in abeyance by those who were antagonistic to it# 

In place of the principle of self-determination, there 

were three other beliefs which were substituted, These 

were a belief in snail states as a Justifiable part of the 

international order, a belief in the equality of states, 

great or small, and a belief in the right of absolute nat-

ional sovereignty. 

With regard to the belief in the small state, Great 

Britain had a long tradition of friendship with Portugal, 

Greece, Belgium, Denmark and others« This policy of friend-

ship for the small states was extended when Britain recog-

nized the independence of the Spanish-American nations. In 

1924, Britain had gone to war because of the attack by Ger-

many on Belgium. President Wilson expressed a similar sym-

pathy in an address to the Senate on 22 January I9I7, which 

was just shortly before the United States entered the war, 

when he said, "The equality of nations upon which peace 

must be founded if it is to last must be an equality of 

rights; the guarantees exchanged must neither recognize nor 

imply a difference between big nations a M small, between 

those that are powerful end those that ar6 w e a k . F r a n c e 

2 % # Baker and I* Dodd, The Public Papers of Woodrow 
Wilson, The lew Democracy, II, IpL04j.ll# 
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had a tradition of reliance on the support of a group of 

smaller states against any strong rival. Hence, by the 

time peace came and. brought with, it the disintegration of 

three large empires and the military defeat of a fourth, it 

was little more than natural that the peace arrangements 

vers thought of in terms of small states which, were to he 

free and independent« 

The attitude toward the idea of equal sovereignty was 

stronger in the American delegation, which held the opinion 

that if the states were not considered, as equals, it would 

mean the great powers would be acknowledged superior to th» 

smaller states only on the basis of physical might, and the 

control of world affairs would "be based on might alone 

Only Franc# was willing to relinquish the principle of 

absolute and complete national sovereignty in favor of a 

new international order,5° but this willingness was explained 

by France's desire to convert the League into a great mili-

tary alliance, which would of necessity require that national 

sovereignty he sacrificed to achieve military security. Lord 

Cecil of the British delegation, expressing the general tread 

of the thought in the Conference, said that one of the "basic 

principles of the League should be non-interference in the 

internal affairs of any nation**3- President Wilson. also 

^Lansing, o£. cit., p. 58. ^Miller, Diary, VIII, 9!*.. 

5iMiller, Diary, .XX, li|-15. 
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recognised the principle of national sovereignty and openly 

endorsed It, though he did not seen-? to reallz® that there 

could be a conflict between a peace organisation such m the 

League and the idea of national sovereignty,^ 

The Bsall states welcomed the assertions of tho British 

and the American®, for they were quit© conscious of their 

rights of national sovereignty, which, in many cases, were 

newly acquired rights, Even so, the Canadian© and the Aus-

tralians strongly insisted that the League Council fi&s not 

an executive body and should not be described as such, a M 

the lutch insisted that the sovereignty of the individual 

states should not he limited in any way whatsoever*^ fhis 

wan no more than a nature! reaction, especially by the newly 

fornec, states. They had just recently gained an indepen-

dent status, felt thenceIves to be strong arid virile, 

thought ther.seIves quite capable of protecting their own 

security, and had no intention of relinquishing v.hat they 

had gained. However, the principle of national sovereignty 

and the idea of a League of Rations had basic, principles that 

were diametrically opposed. 

Self-determination, as a force in international affairs, 

did not end in 1915, but its incidence changed. luring the 

negotiations of tho Urect-Litovsk Treaty, Germany had refused 

filler, Diary, vill, 92-95. 

filler, Plary. VII, 23, 37, 221, 2I4.I. 
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Russia the right to employ the principle of self-determi-

nation to determine what territories would hair© to be sur-

rendered, and in this refusal, Germany gave the initiative 

for the use of self-determination to the Allies, However, 

after the peace settlement was rs&;o, the initiative had been 

returned, for then the Germans, Magyars, and the Bulgarians 

were the nations with the grievances. 

The survival of large and diverse minorities in many 

countries provided ample occasion for the continuance of the 

agitation for self-determination* This demand was not dimin-

ished by the fact that two of the formerly dominant nations 

found themselves with a grievance on this count against their 

former subjects. Also, there was a feeling in many quarters 

that too many people were being sacrificed to others whose 

cultural value was infinitely les3.^ The members of the 

Little Entente and Poland were the states aoat likely to be 

attacked on the principle of self-determination, and they 

were also the weakest internally due to the huge minorities 

they contained. It was ironic that states such as Poland 

with a 30J4. per cent minority, Czechoslovakia with a 

per cent minority, and Houmania with a 25 per cent minority 

were created by a settlement that was supposedly based on 

self-determination. However, the scene was set for the 

5^-Albreoht-Currie, o£. cit,. p. 119, 
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future demands, for some four and one half million people 

had been deprived of their rights of self-determination*$5 

Apparently, the new states that had been created out 

of the peace settlement did not realize the wisdom of a gen-

erous policy toward their minorities and of attempting to 

conciliate them by the concession of extensive rights of 

local autonomy. It was not too unnatural that the new 

countries did not cater to such ideas, for they were deter-

mined to create united nation-states, To there, the question 

of their ability to create a state that was strong polit-

ically and a leader among nations was the important thing#5^ 

The danger of leaving large minorities at the mercy of 

small states with such an intense national feeling had not 

been unforeseen, and the Peace Conference endeavored to 

guard against it by means of the minority treaties. In one 

way or another, ©very one of the lesser states in Central and 

Eastern Europe volunteered or was forced to guarantee cer-

tain rights for its minorities, and great hopes were placed 

in the widespread acceptance of what was believed to be the 

innovation of minority guarantees• 

'The minorities were guaranteed civil rights and lib-

erties as citizens of the national state, but this was far 

35h# W* Seton-ffataon, Britain and the Dictators, 
PP» 322-323• 

f ££• £it., p. 366, 
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from all that they wanted, so both, sides of the question 

were -unsatisfied with the results, and the situation grad-

ually declined from bad to worse. Pew of the states had 

accepted the minority treaties willingly* They aid act 

want to subject themselves to 3 one thing that the "big states 

would not apply to themselves* Consequently, most of the 

small states regarded the compulsory signature of minority 

treaties as an admission of an inferior status, and they 

did not like it#37 

To a certain extent, the minorities had been placed 

under the protection cf the League, but in 1$)20, a League • 

Commission pointed out that there was no mention of the 

responsibility in the Covenant, and that it y/ss the function 

of the sovereign state to decide whether or not a minority 

waa to be allowed the right of self-determination. This 

same committee went on to state: 

Positive International Law does not recognize the 
right of national groups, as such, to separate them-
selves from the state of which they form a part by the 
simple expression of a wish, any aor® than It recog-
nizes the right of other states to claim such a separ-
ation. 

The Commission qualified its stand by admitting that in an 

International crisis, when ordinary rules were not operating, 

37J. S. Eoucek, Contemporary Rouaiania and Her Problems« 
p. 200. 

^League of Nations Official Journal, Special Supple-
ment, Number 3, October 1920, pp. $~b. 
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seIf-determination may play its part, but in ordinary 

times, it was only on© of many factors in operation. In 

effect, the League side-stepped the issue and the minorities 

were left to the dubious protection of the minority treaties. 

In the long run, the League took action only when a state 

powerful enough to have intervened in defense of the minor-

ity pushed it into intervening, and then the course of the 

League was usually vacillating.-^ By 1930, the British dele-

gation in the League debate on the minorities took the stand 

that where German minorities were Involved, it was for the 

German Government to look after their interests.^-® Thia 

well represents the attitude of the League at this time to-

ward the minorities* 

German international policy after 1919 began with the 

fact that Germany did not accept the settlement of Versailles 

as either permanent or just. Germany agreed to the frontier 

with Denmark and France,^-1 but elsewhere her disagreement 

was bitterly resentful. The loss of territory to Poland 

and the consequent rule of the Germans in those lands by the 

. A, Macartney, national States and National Minor-
ita.es. p • • 

^°Ibid., p. 376. This position on the part of England 
was never brought up by Hitler in later years. Herein, he 
had a perfect argument, but, apparently, it was lost to 
everyone. 

^•Gustav Stresemann, G. Stresemann, Ilia Diaries, Let-
ters. and Papers. translated Sy~ 1 * - 3 K W T T I , 112-115, 
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Poles was accepted only as a dictate of force* The German 

hope and expectation of recovering the lost Oilesian ter-

ritories was shown 'by the German pressures exerted on the 

people of German descent in those territories not to forget 

their ancestry. In this way, the Germans.hoped to maintain 
lip 

a strong German minority,* 

The revision of the Eastern frontier waa repeatedly 

put forward by Gustav Streaeiaann, the German roreigrt -Min-

ister, in hia private letters and memoranda as the major 

a in of Geriaan policy. Apparently, he "believed that the 

Polish frontier was a gross violation of the principle of 

self-determination, as he said in a letter to the former 

German Crown Prince: 
« • • the re-adjustment of our Eastern frontiers; 

the recovery of Danzig, the Polish corridor, and a 
correction of the frontier in Upper Silesia • . • 

(are the major tasks of German foreign policy,)b3 

This attitude toward the peace settlement on the Eastern 

frontiers was a continuous one, and, just before the ad-

vent of Hitler on the scene of German politics, Otto Braun, 

the Socialist Prime Minister of Prussia, again called 

these same frontiers unjust and unnatural and never to be 

recognized as equitable. 

I|2q̂  Saeckenbeocic. The International Experiment of 
* m #*» *** A mmm# 

' Silesia, p» 528, 
*01 f D. P. Morrow, The Peace Settlement in the German-

Polish Borderlands. p. I9I. 
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Germany protested most vigorously that self-deter-

mination had been violated in the enforced separation of 

Germany and Austria, In November, 1918, the Provisional 

Assembly of German-Austria declared that "German-Austria 

is a constituent part of the German Republic." The Con-

stituent Assembly repeated this in March, I9I9, and in 

December, the Tyrol Landtag proposed to secede to 3-ormany#^' 

General related in M s diary on 29 October XQlS 

that nAustria has capitulated unconditionally, 1 hope at 

least that rm may thus get the German lands of Austria for 

Germany and so compensate ourselves for what we shall have 

to give up.f'^5 However, the peace settlement decreed that 

Germany and Austria «ere to be separated, and this pro-

hibition cam© to he regarded "by the Germans as one of the \ 

major crimes of Versailles. Little was aaid in 1919, how-

ever, but in I925, Streaenann referred to it as a violation 

of the right of self-determination and as a piece of "unex-

ampled c y n i c i s m , B y 1932, this enforced separation had 

become one of the dominant themes in German propaganda and 

a crucial point of European politics. It was also one of 

the major factors leading to the rise of Adolph Hitler in 

1932 and further prostitution of 3 elf-de terminat ion , 

Wh». k. Ball, Poat-War Auatro-German Relations, p. 29, 

Hoffmann, War Diaries and Other Papera* translated 
hy 3. 3utton, I, 2 k 5 ~ " ~ ~ — con, 1, <24. p. '* 

Wstresemann, 0£, cit., IX, 159. 



CHAPTER III 

PREPARATIONS FOR PROSTITUTION 

After 3.932, Germany was coronitted to the incorporation 

of Austria into Germany as an economic and political neces-

sity. This fact must be taken as the prime assumption, for 

all of Hitler1a declamations about self-determination became 

so many words when compared with the policies he pursued. 

Hitler expressed this assumption in the first line of the 

first page of Main Kampf. which was virtually the Bible of 

Nazi Germany, when he said that a fortunate predestination 

decreed that he should be born on the confines of Oermany 

and Austria, whose fusion was to be the most important task 

of his lifetime, Hitler qualified this step to a prelimin-

ary toward his goals,^ but by relegating it, he by no means 

thought of it as less important. Rather, it was to be a 

long step toward the ultimate uniting of all Germans, and, 

supposedly, it was to be on the basis of self-determination# 

\$) expression of the Nazi policy was written by Hit-

>.fy-̂ ;*ler during M s confinement after his trial in I92I4.# hut in 

the ensuing years the idea did not change• After the Nazis 

had gained political supremacy of Germany, only the moat 

ignorant were not convinced that the annexation of Austria 

^Adolph Hitler, It®in Kampf, translated by R. Manheim, p. 1, 



was on® of the initial air a of the Party, The lazls were 

ready to express It as an alia. A whole host of German offi-

cials, including Goering, Goebbels, Wilhelia Prick, Robert 

Ley, Otto f»'eissner, Franz von Papen, filhelm Keitel, and 

Erhard Milch, openly expressed this to the United States 

General Consul in Berlin, George Messersmith, on numerous 

2 

occasions. 

The German plan to achieve the annexation of Austria 

was essentially a simple one. The immediate goal was to 

get a foothold in the Austrian Cabinet and then gradually 

infiltrate the Austrian Government until all that would be 

needed was an assimilation of the Austrian® into Germany on 

the pretext of self-determination. 

The first Cabinet post that Germany wanted to control 

was the Ministry of the Interior, for it held the advantage 

of controlling the police system. Almost immediately after 

the ftazl rise to power in Germany, economic pressures were 

brought to bear, propaganda programs were initiated, and & 

program of terrorism was begun to force Austria into con-

cessions, That the German Government engineered these pres-
"It;; 

surea was only too readily admitted by them, especially by 

Erhard Milch, Chief of the German Air Force,5 
^Trials of the Fajor War Criminals, Affidavit of 

George itessersmiE?^ S8T5gus? 3oc. 1760-P3, XXVIII, 
262/ Hereafter, TKWC will signify Trials of the Major 
War Criminals, 

^Xbld,. XXVIII, 263-26I4., 
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This German program was, however, not without oppo-

sition, In the West, 'France, Germany, and Belgium were 

linked by the Locarno Pact of 1928, which did not allow a 

change of the statue quo. Further, Prance and Belgium v/ere 

Joined in a mutual assistance agreement which did not agree* 

ably favor an Austro-German union. In the East, France had 

engineered the Little Entente of Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, 

and Roumania, which was designed to contain Germany in her 

1919 position. Also, France was pushing a proposed Ban-

ubian Pact, which was to strengthen the economic position 

of the Southeastern European nations# Franc© had likewise ' 

proposed an East Locarno Pact of mutual assistance, which 

was to include all the countries in the East from the Bal-

tic to the Adriatic and Black Seas, All of these French 

maneuvers rere really little more than attempts to choke 

off the possibility of future German expansion, but they 

did form major obstacles for German foreign policy, espec-

ially in view of the rapport which existed among the states. 

One other obstacle to German aims was the position of 

Italy. Mussolini was definitely interested in Austrian 

independence in order that an interval would be placed be-

tween the German and Italian borders. In the years before 

the Italian venture into Abyssinia, Mussolini neither liked 

nor trusted the Germans, and an independent Austria insured 

that Germany would not be at his back door. 
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Vith such opposition to German aims, German diplomacy 

was geared for war in that the diplomatic policy was de-

signed to create dissension, not only among the groups of 

nations as they were lined, up against Germany, hut also 

within the various nations themselves. Germany hoped to 

sow the seeds of disunity by fostering doubts, and then let 

the groups opposing Germany blow themselves apart, thus ab-

solving Germany of all blame. Among the small nations, Ger-

many circulated rumors, made threats, made extravagant and 

inconsistent promises of rewards, and took any means at 

hand to open frictions between the states* Of course, Ger-

many scoffed at the idea that she had international obli-

gations. To England and Prance, peace and security was the 

price of non-intervention in Southeastern Europe. / 

At home, the Kazi Government made preparations to 

achieve the goal of German expansion, which first meant the 
A 

annexation of Austria. ( Nazi youth engaged in military ex-

ercises and drill. The issue was placed before the people 

to make it appear that Germany was being threatened from 

without, and, consequently, the people as a whole were 

given military training. Further, a vast program of re-

armament was undertaken with the nev/ weapon of the age, the 

airplane, given the major emphasis,^" 

^TWC, Affidavit of George Cesser smith, 30 August I9I4.5, 
doc. 2385-PS. XXX, 298-300. 
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By the middle of November, 1933, the Nazi program had 

been so successful that there was evidence in Vienna that 

a lassi putsch was imminent.5 

The threatened putsch <5id not develop, hut aa the daya 

paaaed, Nazi terrorism in Austria Increased to such a point 

the Englebert Dollfuas, Chancellor of Austria, decided to 

cancel his policy of clemency.^ Prior to the early days of 

January, 193^, Dollfuas had hoped to get Nazi cooperation 

by being lenient with them, but during this month, talk was 

circulated that C-ermany was soon to attack Austria, and ob-

viously, clemency was not the answer to Eaziam. 

Hitler openly refuted any auch thing in M s speech be-

fore the Reichstag on 30 January I93I+, and he went on to 

say that nothing of the sort would be undertaken or even 

planned. But he did point out that the same spirit that 

moire a Germany was in the people of Austria, and that he m m 
*7 / 

willing at all times to extend a helping hand to them.1 ( In 

5poreign Relations of the United States. United States 
Minister in Austria (Earle) to Chief of toeatern European 
Affaire (Moffat), 21 November 1933, doc. 3, I93I4., II, 3-I4.. 
This waa the only source that referred to an impending 
putach. Hereafter, FRUS will signify Foreign Relations of 
the United. States. 

^FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Earle) to 
Secretary of State, 9 January I93I}., doc, i*., 193k, II, 5# 

% . II. Baynea, editor. The Speeches of Adolph Hitler. 
April 1922-Auguat 19.39. H > W>3, II65,""" it^T Ilsot W3S, 
Untied" s'fitia Si^alsaabr in Italy {Long} to Secretary of 
State, 50 January I93I4., doc. 18, l$3kt II, 10. 
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other words. Hitler disclaimed any designs ©a Austria, but 

at the same time, he implied that the world should not be 

too surprised if it awoke one day to find Austria and Ger-

many close, if not actually united., 

The world had hardly had time to digest Hitler * a speech 

of JO January before the Basis lost a considerable amount of 

prestige in Austria. On 15 February, the Socialist Party 

revolted against Dollfuss, primarily on the grounds that it 

ft ' 

did not like his method of government. The insurrection 

was put down by the police and army, which were quite loyal 

to Dollfuss, but without the help of the Nazi Party. Peace '' 
\ P " 

was immediately restored in Austria when Dollfuss offered 

the Socialists a very lenient peace. However, Collfuss very 

generally discredited the Nazis for their disinterest, and 

the power, prestige, and confidence in Dollfuss rose to new 

heights.^ The Nazis suffered another setback in late Feb-

ruary when all political parties wore outlawed. The net 

results of the episode were a stronger Dollfuss, a fore-

stalled laai Party, more stable conditions, and finally Ger-

man intervention. 

The German intervention came in the form of a speech by 

The odor llabicht of the German Foreign Ministry on 19 February, 
%RUS, United States Charge d'Affaires In Austria 

(Kliefoth) to Secretary of State, 13 February I93J4., doc. 19, 
l$3k, 11# *1. 

^PRUS, United States Sinister in Austria (Earle) to 
Secretary of State, 2 March 195^, doc. 39, 1934, II, 21-22. 
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In which he asked the Austrian Government whether it was 

going to continue its course in quelling the then current 

uprising by force, or whether it was prepared "to seek a, 

better German future with the S&gl Movement.w To demon-

strate Germany's good faith, he ordered a truce for all 

Nazis from 20 February to 28 February, during which time, 

no Nazi would attack the Austrian Government by word or 

deed. The truce no more than admitted to the world that 

the Nazi activities in Austria were controlled by the Ber-

lin government. Iramediately, Mussolini advised Hitler to 

exercise more control over Eabicht. Italy, France and Eng-

land issued a joint statement to the effect that Austria 

must remain independent according to the existing treaties.10 

Naturally, the speech was suppressed by G-ermany, as Do 11-

fuss had gained considerable strength in quelling the re-

volt by 16 February, This was the first incident of offi-

cial German intervention in internal Austrian affairs, and 

at no time did the German Government retract the statements 

made by Habicht, 

Despite the fact that all political parties had been 

w 
abolished, Nazi inspired, planned, and executed terroristic 

1 0 • 'iH-

FRUS, United States Ambassador in Germany (Todd) to 
Secretary of Stat®, 6 March I93I4., doc. 59I4., 1954., II, 23-2^. 

^FRUS, United States Charge d'Affaires (Kliefoth) to 
Secretary of State, 16 February I95J4., doc, 22, I93&., II, 
17* 
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tactics in Austria Increased to old levels, and the Bunich 

radio again poured out propagandist1c attacks by the end 

of April. The increased. Kazi activity was due to Bollfuss1 

lenient treatment of Sazi agitators and Germany's deter-

mination to fore© Austria to terras,^ Too, the same atti-

tude toward Austria prevailed in the official German cir-
A 

clea in Vienna when Rieth, the German Minister to tea- C'vV;, 

tria, maintained that the Austro-German question was an in-

ternal one that could be settled only if other countries 

kept out of i t H o w e v e r , it appeared that the other coun-

tries referred to "by Rieth were not going to keep out, for 

on 21 June, Louis Barthou, the French Minister for Foreign 

Affairs, while on a trip through Vienna, issued a state-

ment that France, in cooperation with England and Italy, 

would continue to guarantee Austrian independence. This 

meant that the Austrian question was not considered by them 

an internal German affair 

Apparently, Germany did not take great heed of the 

French Minister's statement concerning Austrian independence, 

for on 29 June, Joseph Goebhels, German propaganda chief, 

1 

X 

12Fnt>S, United States Charge d 'Affaires (Kliefoth) to 
Secretary of State, 11 v. ay iSJk, doc, 65, I93I4., II, 25. 
Also, PRXIS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 12 June I95I4., doc. 71, 195^, II, 26, 

13pnu&, united States Minister in Austria (Messeramith) 
to Secretary of State, June 193I4., doc, 2I4.I, 195^, II, 28* 

^J-FRDS, United States minister in Austria U'essersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 21 June I93U, doc. 73, 193*4., II, 55. 
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told/ Signor Cherruti, the Italian Ambassador In Berlin, 

that a Nazi government would "be installed in Vienna within 

a month. Further evidence that the German Government had 

knowledge of and, in fact, engineered the attempted, putsch, 

which occurred on the Austrian Government on 25 July, came 

up in the form of a pamphlet which appeared on the streets 

of Berlin on 2k July.*5 The pamphlet was suppressed, but 

the very fact of publication and partial distribution a 

full day previous to the event belied the later protesta-

tions of the German Government that it had not been involved. 

iThe most notable feature was the fact that not six months 

had passed since Hitler had stood before the Reichstag and 

stated that Germany had no plans or ambitions to attack or 

molest Austria in any way. And most certainly, an attempted 

putsch against the Austrian Government was not in accord 

with the rights of self-determination as they had been ex-

1 £V"\ 
by him in the same speech. 0 ; 

The putsch Itself was an attempt by the lazls to seize 

the Austrian Government by first murdering Do11fuss, whom 

they considered to be the major obstacle to their success, 

15f'RUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messeramith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193k, 1954, 
11, 38. Also, TMV.'C, Affidavit of Paul Schmidt, 2o November 
I9&5, doc. 5308-PS, XXXI, Ikk. Also, Time, Affidavit of 
George Kessersmith, 28 August 19I4.5, doc. 1760-PS, XXVIII, 
269-270• Also, Baal Conspiracy and Aggression, Testimony of 
Ooering, Supplement B, i24fc-114.9. Hereafter, KCA will sig-
nify Kazl Conspiracy and. Aggression. 

^^Baynes, o£. c i t S p e e c h of JO January II, II90. 
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and then intimidating the Cabinet into submission. ̂ 7 The 

©vent began about noon on 25 July when six trucks met about 

©si® hundred and fifty men at some obscure building in Vienna* 

After donning police and army uniforms and getting a supply 

of arms and ammunition, men in five trucks went to the Fore-

ign Office 'in ISallhausplatz while one truck went to radio 

Vienna. By 12:50 P. il., Major Emil Fey, a member of Doll-

fuas' Cabinet, had heard that "something was going to hap-

pen, n 11© hurried to the Foreign Office and warned Collfuaa 

and the remainder of the Cabinet, The Cabinet adjourned, and 

the members left for their respective offices,1® At 12|if0 P, M, 

the Basis seized the radio station and announced that Coll-

fuss had resigned and that Rintelen, the Austrian Minister 

to Rome, was the new Chancellor, Rintelen had been chosen 

by the iiazsis to replace lolliuss because his views paral-

leled Jiaal views,-*9 

Almost as soon as the announcement of Pollfuss1 resig-

nation had been, broadcast, the five trucks drove into the 

Foreign Office and began to occupy it, even while Eollfuaa 

conferred with Major Fey, Undersecretaries Tauschits and 

liarwinski, and General Zehner about protective measures. 

^TFRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Meeseramlth) 
to Secretary of State, 27 July 195]̂ , doc. 8C, I95I4., II, 32, 

^%'RUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messsrsaith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193k, 195̂ ., 
II, 5»* 

19FRLS, United States Minister in Austria (Cessersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 25 July I9&, doc, 80, I9&, II, 29. 
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airing the first few minutes. Do 1 If us 3 was shot twice in 

tli© neck and the other people In the building were locked 

up and told that they would be shot if an attack were made 
OQ 

on the building. However, three things thwarted the 

Nazis, In the first place, they had axpected the announce-

ment of Iollfuss' resignation to spark a popular revolt, 

which did not come. Secondly, they had anticipated capturing 
p% 

the entire Cabinet, which had just adjourned. Thirdly, 

the K&zia had expected an invasion by the Austrian Legion in 

support of the putsch, which did not come; for when news of 

the attack on the Foreign Office reached Rome, Mussolini 

ordered two corps to the Brenner Pass to enter Austria in 

the event of a German invasion.22 The police took the radio 

station back, and the army and the people massed about the 

Foreign Office, Consequently, the Nazis found themselves 

to be the real prisoners, and, of course, the putsch was 

realized as a failure• 

^OpRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 25 July I95I4., doc. 81, I93I4., II, 29. 
Also, FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193^, 19^1, 
II, 37. 

2*FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 27 July 193k doc. 86, I93I4., II, 52. 
Also, FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August l93i|.# 19514., 
11, 37. 

*^FRUSt United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 195k, 193^, 
II, ip.* The Austrian Legion was an organization made up of 
Austrian Kazis who had fled Austria and Austrians in Germany 
who liked the idle life the German authorities offered. 
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Immediately, the Nazis resorted to their pre-arranged 

escape plan* It was demanded of Kurt von Schuschnigg, who 

was acting as Chancellor until the Vice-Chancellor, Star-

hemberg, could be called home from Italy, that those who had 

participated in the attempted putsch be given safe passage 

to Germany# Otherwise, the Nazis threatened to shoot all of 

their prisoners,^ Since Schuschnigg knew they had Dollfuss, 

there was little he could do except agree, which he did, but 

on the basis that no one would be killed. Since the Nazis 

did not trust Schuschnigg, they demanded that Rieth, the 

&©man Minister, b© called in as a witness to the agreement. 

An agreement was reached, and the Nazis surrendered, where-

upon it was discovered that Dollfuss w m dead from loss of 

blood• Naturally, this invalidated the agreement, and the 

polioe trundled one hundred and forty~four Nazis off to 

jail.2^" Schuschnigg was appointed Chancellor by the Austrian 

President, Wllhelm Miklas, and proceedings began against the 

captured Nazis amid a quiet Vienna. 

23fRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 2§ July 193)4., doc. 81, I93I}., II, 50. 
Also, FRU3, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193lu 193^, 
II, 37* Also, FRUS, United States Minister in Austria {Mes-
sersmith) to Secretary of State, 27 July 193^, doc* 86, 
193^ II# 52. 

^PHTJS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 25 July I93I1., doc. 82, I93I1, II, 30. 
Also, FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 
to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193^, 193k, 
II, 37. 
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The following day, the ffemsn Government recalled Rieth, 

who claimed that he had entered the negotiations at the Invi-

tation of the Austrian Government and that he had no prior 

knowledge of the putsch. • In addition to Rieth'a claims, Ber-

lin disavowed his actions and denied any implication of Cfer-
2«j 

many whatsoever, J Only the most naive, however, believed 

Germany to be innocent of the affair, 

In any event, the failure of the attempted putsch and 

the protestations by Germany of her innocence marked a defin-

ite tactical retreat for German planners, for the Nazi move-

ment in Austria was weakened considerably. Hot only were 

they In high disfavor among the populace of Austria, but the 

majority of the Western World was blaming them for the events 
26 

which had transpired, Germany oould not attempt to annex 

Austria in an open fashion, for such a move would most prob-

ably have brought foreign intervention from Italy, and that 

was the last thing Germany desired at this point. 

However, Schuachnigg recognized that the ultimate Ger-

man aims had not changed in the least, He decided that a 

course of appeasement for Austria would be best, since such 
25FKDS, United States Minister in Austria (Messersmith) 

to Undersecretary of State (Phillips), 1 August 193I4., I93I*. 
II, 59-40. 

2%RtlS, United States Charge d 'Affaires in Czechoslo-
vakia (Benton) to Secretary of State, 27 July 195^, doe. 39, 
193k, XI, 51. 
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a course would give the German Hauls no reason or ground 

for further intervention In internal Austrian a f f a i r s . ^ 7 

In order to gain a© much as possible of what had been 

lost by the failure of the putsch, Hitler dispatched Franz 

von Papen to Vienna in hopes that the situation could be 

smoothed over as quickly as possible. The re-establish-

ment of good relations with Germany was not von Papen*s 

only job, but the urgency with which he was sent indicated 
\ 

Hitler*s concern over the situation. Hitler was so con* 

cerned that von Papen entered Vienna not as an ordinary 

ambassador of the German Foreign Office, but rather as the 
\ 

direct envoy of Hitler, to whom Papen reported directly,2^ 

\ The attempted putsch failed and the Austrian Govern-

ment remained intact * However, had the activities of the 

Austrian Nazis been successful, Hitler would have undoubt-

edly taken up the question and settled it in his own fashion, 

Even as the reports from Vienna looked encouraging, the 

Austrian Legion had been alerted to move into Austria, and 

it was only the very decisive stand of Mussolini that can-

celed the ordered invasion. But in any event, the Nazi 

activities in Austria were hardly in agreement with any idea 

of national sovereignity. ; 

^Kurfc von Schuachnigg, Austrian Requiem, translated 
by Franz von Hildebrand, p. % 

2®NCA- Testimony of Goering, 50 August I9J4.5, Supple-
ment B, 1149-1151. 
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The stand of Mussolini and the failure of the putsch 

caused a change in the German directed tactics, but the 

alterations stopped there• The primary aim was still the 

union of Germany and Austria, and, for a time, the politi-

cal air cleared somewhat, as the terrorist1© policy was 

temporarily abandoned for activities such m industrial 

sabotage, rumor promulgation, creation of panics, and a 

person to person propaganda campaign,29 

However, although the Nazis in Austria were quiet on 

a specific order from Berlin, this did not mean that they 

were inactive. In point of fact, they were very busy with 

the direction and support of Berlin, The Austrian National 

Socialist Party received plans, propaganda, advice, money, 

and every conceivable kind of assistance• (In order to use 

the support and assistance sent in from Germany, the Aus-

trian Nazis reorganized and set up better contact with the 

Party leadership, obtained a better propaganda program and 

received detailed instructions for another putsch*/ The 

major change was in the control exercised by Germany,5° 

The German Ambassador, von Papen, had as his major object-

ive the weakening and underlining of the Austrian Govern-

ment, an aim he admitted quite readily, and he worked 

^9schuachnigg, op, cit,, p, I4.. Also, FRUS, Memorandum 
by Chief of Division of western Affairs (Moffat;, 14 Sep-
tember I95I1., I93I4., II, k$* 

5°TKWC4 Affidavit of George Messersmith, 28 August I95U, 
doc. 1760-pS, XXVIII, 271, 273, 
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constantly and witho'ut scruples to achieve that end, while 

Berlin told the 'world that Germany would observe Austrian 

independence,^ 

Inside Germany, the major support of the Austrian 

Jlaals was the aid given the Austrian Legion, Hitler not 

only condoned the Legion, bat also supported it with sup* 

plies of all kinds, trained it, armed it, and finally paid 

it* The aim behind the support given was to have it avail-

able for inarching into Austria at the propitious Moment* 

Too, it was an excellent source of propaganda materials,^ 

,4ft er the climax of the lazi activities in the failure 

of the putsch, Germany was almost back to the point from 

which the program for a union had "begun, A few changes had 

boon made, and, so doubt, some lessons had been learned, . 

but in the last souths of 193^, little was accomplished. 

llerr von Papen' a major activity was to contact the influ-

ential people and to sway them to the German point of view. 

Otherwise, he v/as in Vienna without any apparent instructions 

as to what was to be done to relieve the strained Auatro-

German relations» Letters of introduction were used, lav-

ish entertainments were staged, and reputations were ex-

ploited in carrying out this .exploratory work. Some 

53-lbld.. pp» 272, 27i|., Also, Baynea, o£. cit.» 11, 
II85 • 

5̂T?.',V,-C, Affidavit of George leasersmith, 28 August I9I4.5, 
doe. 1760-PS, XXVIII, 269, 
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attempts at pacification were made by Germany, but all 

efforts were toward laying a base for the future* The 

first portent of the planned las! policy ease when von 

papen requested that the Austrian Government restrain the 

Austrian press from their caustic comments on Germany, 

especially sine© German propaganda against Austria had 

ceased 

Insofar as Auetro-Gerraan relations were concerned, the 

year 1955 was quiet with little or no active friction from 

either party* The existing tensions between the two gov-

ernments did not decrease, nor did the Reich lessen the 

economic pressures that had been applied to help force 

Austria into capitulation. The activities of the then 

illegal Sazi Party were not curtailed, but were carried on 

out of the sight of the Austrian Government• 

To further lull the world to sleep with regard to his 

intentions in Austria, Hitler spoke to the Reichstag on 

21 May 1935# of Austria and of the right of self-deter-

minatlon In a very definite manner. 

Germany neither Intends or wishes to interfere 
in the internal affairs of Austria, to annex Austria, 
or to conclude an "Anschluss". The German people 
and the German Government had, however, the very 
comprehensible desire, arising out of a simple feel-
ing of solidarity due to a cownon national descent— 
namely, that the right to self-determination should 
be guaranteed, not only for foreign nations, but to 

33FRUS, United States Minister in Austria (Kessersmith) 
to Secretary of State, 18 October 193&, doc* 170, I95I4., II, 
52-53. 
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the German people everywhex»e. 1 myself believe that 
no regime which does not rest on public consent and 
is not-supported by the people can continue perman-
ently.^*" 

It was notable that Hitler placed the subjects of Austria 

and aelf-determination in the very same paragraph, 

( At the same time, the small nations that comprised the 

Little Entente and those that were considering the pro-

posed Bast Locarno Pact and the Danubian Pact were, one by 

one, acquiescing to German demands on them out of fear of 

possible aggressions against them in the future. Actually, 

the small nations had no real choice. By this time, Ger-

many was rearming at an extremely rapid pace, the League 

of Nations had failed to stop Mussolini when he went into 

Abyssinia, in March of I936, France and England were pas-

sive as Germany moved into the Rhineland, and, wherever 

opposition continued, Germany carried on a vigorous policy 

of stirring up dissension and openly siding with Nazi, 

Fascist, and anti-government groups. For small nations with 

large minority groups, this last could be ruinous. Conse-

quently, the small nations reached the conclusion that, 

since neither France and England nor the League of Nations 

could or would stop Germany, the next best thing for them to 

do was to adopt a course of appeasement and make the best 

deal they couldBasically then, Hitler's speech to the 

^Baynes, o£. cit,, II, 1218• 

Affidavit of George Messersmlth, 30 August 
I9I1.5, doc. 2585-PS, XXX, 301. 
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Reichstag was, for all practical purposes, little More than 

a tactic* Papen made it quite clear that such speeches 

were no more than words, for h© readily admitted to anyone 

who cared to ask that hi© mission was to weaken the Austrian 
~ s \ 

Government and pave the way for Anschluss j 

In the early months of 1936, a huge outbreak of agita-

tion against peace came from Austria in the charge that Ger-

many was soon to invade Austria, but Hitler again denied 

any such intention in his Kay Bay Speech, wherein he charged 

the fear as a lie that was being perpetrated by the Jews, 

and firmly denied the existence of a problem of Anschluss# 

Instead, he waved se If «*<ie t ermination before the world•^7 

But it was not long thereafter that Austria began a series 

of negotiations with Germany for her life that was to cul-

minate in the very thing Hitler had consistently denied that 

he wanted—-Anschluss, 

Telford Taylor, Sword and Swastika, p, 177, 

5tBayn.es, 
og> olt,. May Bay Speech, 1936, IXt X$22# 



CHAPTER'If 

IKCREASED TEMPO 

Austria was literally forced Into negotiating to 

relieve the tensions with Germany, for, by the middle of 

1956, there was no foreign support of her position. Italy, 

who had been the principal stanchion of Austria's policy of 

independence, had hecone highly indebted to Germany, and 

for Italy to materially block Hitler would have been an af-

front of the highest order. Consequently, as the Rome-Ber-

lin Axle began to form and congeal, Austria found herself 

more and more alone« At the same time, Schuschnlgg let it 

be known that he wanted the proposed Danubian Pact, and the 

French and English ministers in Vienna relayed the message 

to their governments with a note saying that, if anything 

waa going to be done, it would have to be done in a hurry. 

In spite of their professed interest in Southeastern Europe, 

neither Prance nor England took any initiative in the mat-

ter, and it simply died of neglect. It did, however, mate-

rially affect the position of Austria in her relations with 

Germany, for when no support developed from France and Eng-

land, Austria's bargaining position was considerably less 

than it would have been with support 

^TMWC, Affidavit of George Messersmith, 28 August I9I1.5. 
doc. I76O-PS, XXVIII, 275. 

/ A 
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In July 1956, by the arrangements of von Papen, the 

Austrian Government began talks with the Carman Government 

with the hop® of lessening the tension between the two 

states and ultimately restoring a semblance of normal inter-

course , Germany, on the other hand, entered the talks with 

three motives, only one of which even resembled the Austrian 

motive. In the first place, Hitler wanted to exclude Aus-

tria, as much as possible, from international discussions. 

The "Austrian question" was one of the major topics of dis-

cussion in diplomatic circles at this time, and Hitler 

thought that, if the question could be pushed into the back-

ground by restoring friendly relations, it would be all to 

Germany'a advantage. It would mean that the possibility 

would, vanish of either Prance or England stepping forward 

to guarantee Austrian Independence. Secondly, the estab-

lishment of friendly relations with Austria would wreck the 

efforts of those in Austria who were working to restore the 

Hapsburgs. Those who favored a restoration argued on the 

basis of the animosity between Austria and Germany, and the 

advent of .friendly relations would destroy that possibility. 

Lastly, Germany wanted friendly relations with Austria to 

pave the way for German influence which was designed to pre-

vent the development of an Indigenous Austrian culture. 

Specifically, Germany wanted to flood Austria with news-

papers , literature, dramatic groups, films, music, lecturers, 



% 

and other cultural reminders of the German heritage so that 

when ffs© 1 f-determination" was applied, it would not be too 

Incongruous«^ 
/ 

/Significantly, these motives did not correspond to lit* 
\ 

ler's declarations about self-determination in I93I*., 1955, 

or in the May Day Speech of 1956, nor did they correspond 

to the published agreement that was issued after the nego*» 

tiations were concluded. 

The agreement, which was known as the Austro-German 

Agreement of 11 July 1936, had two specific parts. One was 

published; the other was referred to as the "Gentlemen's 

Agreement" and was not published* The published part had 

three main provisions which recognized the full sovereignty 

of Austria, guaranteed that the internal policy structure 

of both countries was an internal affair and that neither 

would interfere with the other, and acknowledged Austria 

m a German state,5 

The unpublished part was much more specific than the 

published in that it dealt with ten major subjects, which 

are outlined below in order that the transgression on the 

^Documents on German Pgrglaa Policy. German Minister in 
Austria {PapenJ fo Hitler,i July 19J6,doc. 253, Series C, 
I, The "Austrian question" was the problem of the 
highly strained relations between Germany and Austria and 
how they were to be relieved. Hereafter, GPP will signify 
Documents on German Foreign Policy. 

^GFF, Joint Austro-German communique, 11 July 1936. 
doc. 153, Series Pf I, 281-282. 
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principle of self-determination may be more clearly shown* 

Article On&t Neither state would discriminate against 

the citizens of the other state In any manner* 

Article Twos Mutual cultural relations were to be 

established. Books, papers, films, etc* were to ham no 

aggressive bent toward the other country* 

Article Three 1 The press of each country was to be 

influenced so that it would, not have a political influence 

prejudicial to the other country, and each country was to 

allow the importation of newspapers from the other. 

Article Pour: The fate of Austrian $azi exiles was 

to be settled In joint meetings between the two countries• 

Article Five: The national insignia of both countries 

was to be placed on equal footing as any other third nation, 

and national anthems of the other country were to be played 

only when nationals of the other country were attending 

closed meetings* -

Article Six: Normal economic relations were to be re-

established. 

Article Seven: Tourist restrictions between the two 

countries were to be lifted and quotas fixed. 

Article Eight t Austria was to conduct her foreign 

policy in the light of the peaceful endeavors of German 

foreign policy, and the two states were to exchange views 

on affairs that affected both of them. 
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Article Nines Austria was to grant amnesty to her 

political prisoners,, and allow the Kazia political respon-

sibility in the appointment of Nazis to government posts* 

The Nazis appointed to government positions were to have 

the confidence of the Chancellor, 

Article Tens Three members of the Foreign Office of 

each country were to form a joint commission for objection 

and complaint procedures.^" 

It takes no more than a brief glance at these ten pro-

visions to note that Articles Three, Five, and Nine were in 

direct contradiction to the published agreement that neither 

party would interfere with the internal policy of the other* 

They violated the right of self-determination by giving the 

German Government a part in determining the Austrian Gov* 

ernment's policy. Further, Articles Two, Three, Five, Six, 

Seven and line were directly in agreement with the motives 

of Germany as expressed by von Papen less than a fortnight 

before the Agreement was signed. It has already been pointed 

out that the German motives in the negotiations were not in 

accord with the principle of self-determination as it was 

expressed by Hitler, Article Eight contradicted the pub-

lished agreement, for, if Austrian foreign policy were to 

be made in the light of German policy, then Austrian policies 

w^re, by implication, somehow subservient to German policy, 

-̂GFP, Austro-German Agreement of 11 July 1936, 11 July 
1936, doc, I52, Series D, I, 278-281. 
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and such a status could hardly bo a recognition of the full 

sovereignty of Austria* Hence, the Agreement, almost in 

its entirety, either contradicted itself or fell in line 

with the German motives in the negotiations, and by defi-

nition, violated the principle of seIf-det eraination in Its 

intentions. 

Proof of the German intentions in the Austro-German 

Agreement came in later years when Hermann Goering, Hit-

ler's chief aid®, called it an agreement that oouM not 

have been lived up to because a basic tenet of German fore-
'' " \ 

ign policy had been the union of Germany and Austria* / Von 

Papen strengthened the testimony by calling it the first 

step toward total Anschluss,5 it was also notable that the 

German Government had drawn many concessions from Austria 

without giving up anything of value, and all of these con-

cessions pointed toward destroying the Austrian Government 

from within, which had been an internal part of the Nazi 

plan since its conception, 

v. The Austrians had been forced to negotiate with the 

Germans, and a natural result was the adoption of a doubtful 

attitude by Austria toward German intentions. The Austrians 

were so dubious that on 15 July, the Austrian Minister in 

Berlin, Tauschits, asked whether or not the Agreement would 

be duly carried out by the responsible members of the laai 

5kOA, Testimony of Goering, Supplement 8, 1150-1151# 
Also, NCA, Testimony of Papen, Supplement B, Il4.72-ll4.73, 
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Party. Hans Bieckhoff of the German Foreign Office replied, 

of course, it would be carried out and the German Government 

expected the same of Austria,^ 

In Austria, many people welcomed the Agreement as pub-

lished mainly as a relief frosn the tensions, and even a few 

of the Monarchists saw advantages in it. The Clerics, in 

part, favored the Agreement as a pan-German!e Idea, Nat-

urally, this rather wide acceptance of the Agreement pleased 

the Nazis, as it tended to make their job of preparing for 

Anschluss easier. Of course, those who had favored the 

restoration of the Kapsburgs were crushed, as their main 

argument was gone,? 

Italy's react ion to the Austro-German Agreement was 

considerably different from its stand of two years pre-

viously, In a conference with the German Minister in Italy, 

Mussolini welcomed the Agreement because Austria would no 

longer be a "football of foreign interests,and it also re-

moved the last obstacle to Italo-German relations,® 

for Germany, the two most significant points of the 

Agreement were the inclusion of a pro-Kazl element in the 

%FP, Memorandum by Dieckhoff, German Foreign Office, 
IJ July 1936 , doc. 156 , Series B, I, 286. 

?GFP, German Minister in Austria (Papen) to German 
Foreign Minister, 28 July I936, doc. l6l, Series I), I, 290. 

D 

GFP, German Minister in Italy (Hassel) to German 
Foreign Minister, 11 July 1936, doc. 155, Series D, I, 283. 
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Austrian Government and the allowance of political respon-

sibility to the Nazis, The former was an indirect approach 

to Anschluss. as It gave the lazis x>ositiona from which 

they could intensify the planned internal disintegration of 

the Austrian Government, " For instance, with pro-li&zis in 

the Cabinet, the terroristic policy of the Nazis could be 

followed more easily, for fewer officials would be willing 

to take police or judicial action to halt or prevent ter-

rorism for fear of the possibility of a Kazi regime at some 

future date*/ 

The allowance of political responsibility was a wel-

comed concession to the Nazis because they v.ere then per-

mitted an organization in which they could work openly and 

legally. This organization was supposed to be incorporated 

into the Fatherland Front, which was the only legal political 

organization in Austria, but it opened a method for Kazi 

activities, the limits of which, would be very difficult to 

define.9 The freedon to work legally and openly also gave 

the Kazia ample opportunity to exploit people like Guldo 

Schmidt, the Austrian State Secretary, who had pan-Germanic 

tendencies. The Nazis hoped to interest him in Kazi policy, 

since he was one of the few to hold Schuschnigg'a confidence, 

and it would open the possibility of aligning Austria against 

Russia, which would make Austria dependent on Germany. It 

9TMWC, Affidavit of George Measersmlth, 28 August X$h5$ 
doc. I76O-PS, XXVIII, 278-279. 
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all amounted to another move by the Jlazis toward Anschluss. 

'end consequently, a step away from their protestations of 

self-determination.10 

On 20 July, a conference was held by representatives 

of Germany and Austria to Implement the provisions of the 

Agreement, specifically the "Gentlemen's Agreement." This 

meeting, as in the previous one, found Austria primarily 

on the defensive against German demands, and, as before, 

Austria gave while Germany took, Herein, it was agreed 

that German nationals in Austria could form cultural groups, 

that German actors could perform in Austria in non-Jewish 

theatres, that there would be an exchange of radio programs, 

that five newspapers were bo be admitted by both countries 

immediately, that the tourist traffic was to be resumed, 

that the German salute and personal insignia were to be al-

lowed in Austria, and that a commission was to be sent to 

Berlin from Austria to integrate the foreign policies of 

the two states.11 

Meanwhile, the Austrian lazis circulated Bulletin lum-

ber line of the Xten&dealeltungf the Party headquarters in 

Austria, which forbade all Party members to contact Party 

10GPP, Letter from Karl Kegerle, Nazi propaganda expert 
in Vienna, to German Foreign Minister (Neurath), 29 August 
1956* doc. 163, Series D, I, 2914.295, 

11GPP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to German 
Foreign Minister Ueurath), 21 July 1936, doc. 158, Series 
B, I, 287-289• 
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officials In Germany.12 However, the I&zl Infiltration was 

net as rapid as was expected. In the first place, consider-

able opposition had developed in the Christian Socialist 

element, which was working for the failure of the Agreement. 

Too, there was little ohance of a Cabinet shake-up, and 

E&au&d von Glaise-Horstenau, a pro-Nazi Cabinet member with-

out portfolio, was constantly put off by Schuachnigg. Fur-

ther, Schuschnlgg liad ordered a passive resistance to Nasi 

integration into government positions 

Goering made Germany's move to soften the Austrian 

position as the result of fortuitous circumstances. Both 

Goering and Schuschnigg were in attendance at the funeral 

of General Gombes, Hungarian Minister President, and, after 

dinner on 10 October, they had their first meeting* Schu-

schnigg expressed a concern over the possibility of Anschluss. 

whioh Goering Immediately sloughed off by saying that if Ger-

many had wanted it, It would have already occurred. Instead, 

Goering talked of an economic-political partnership and mili-

tary aid to Austria.*^ Herein was the subtle implication 

GFP, German Minister in Austria (Papen) to German 
Foreign Minister (Jirarath), 10 September 1936, doe. 1%, 
Series D, I, 297. The bulletin was not dated. 

15GFP, Memorandum by Altenburg of German Foreign Office 
of a conversation with General Muff, German Military Attache * 
in Vienna, 1 October 1936, doc. 166, Series D, I, 500-301 . 

"^GPP, Unsigned memorandum on German Legation station-
ery in Budapest, 13 October 1936, doc. 169 . Series I, I. 
307-308. * ' ' 
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that an Anschluss would riot be undertaken by the us© of 

fore®, so Sehuschnigg should calm hla fears. Rather, Ger-
/ 

many wanted a partnership that could only end In union If \/ 

the basic TJazi aim is recalled. To soften the implications, 

Goerlng Invited Schuschnigg to Berlin so he could see how 

well the Nazi system functioned and be convinced• 

The last three days of October saw the second Austro-

German conference to further implement the Agreement of 

July# The laais again dominated the proceedings, and it was 

mainly a demand for Austrian compliance. They discussed the 

organisation of German groups in Austria, the refugee ques-

tion, and the integration of Nazis into the Austrian Cab* 

inet. Considerable emphasis was laid on the refugee quea* 

tion by the Germans, as Hitler wanted the exiled Austrian 

Nazis back in Austria to work as German a g e n t s , 1 5 hut, ap-

parently, the talk about a Cabinet reorganization had the 

most effect. 

On J November, a major shift in the Cabinet occurred, 

wherein men sympathetic to the Nazi program were installed 

and those relieved who were most violently opposed to Nazism, v 

Keuatadter-Sturmer became Minister of Security, Glalse-

Horstenau became Minister of Interior, Wilhelm Taucher be-

came Minister of Commerce, and Rudolf Neumayer became 

2-5GFPf German Foreign Minister to German Minister of 
Interior, 11 November 1936, doc, 176, Series JD, I, 323-3214., 



13 

Minister of Finance,16 low, the Nazis not only had & foot-

hold In the Austrian Cabinet in those areas where they had 

worked hardest, but they still had Guido Schmidt, a man who 

not been forgotten. The Nazis did not get their chance 

to use Schmidt until November 1936, but, for a long time, 

they had known him to be pro-Haul in his views and close to . 

Schuschnigg. Therefore, at every opportunity, the IULZIS had 

catered to him and bent him as much as possible to their 

views, 

Early In November, Berlin asked for an Austrian repre-

sentative to come to Germany to negotiate Article Sight of 

the "Gentlemen's Agreement,n and in the invitation, a pro-

posed protocol was included, which supposedly set up the 

points to be discussed. The proposals were sent to Austria 

for any additions or amendments the Austrian Government saw 

fit, but, In each of the German proposals, pressure was ex-

erted to force Austrian compliance with German demands, and 

the only action Austria took was to agree in principle and 

not make any definite commitments.17 

Guido Schmidt was chosen to represent Austria in the 

negotiations, and he suggested that both governments ex-

change some diplomatic pleasantries before the meeting, 

*t / 
GPP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 

4 Kovember 1936, doc, I71, Series I>, I, » 

^GPP, German Foreign Minister (Heurath) to German 
Legation in Austria, 12 November 193©, doc. 177* Series D, 
I 525-528. Also, GFP, Memorandum by Altenburs;, 15 Kovember 
1956, doc. 178, Series B, I, 328-329. 
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tout these were vague and so non-committal that they were 

good for propaganda purposes only.2-® However, 'they did 

set tli® tenor of the meetings between Schmidt, Hitler,, and 

\ 

Constantine Keurath, the German Foreign Minister« ) 

While in Berlin, Sehaddt was treated royally, and by 

the time he met Hitler, he was so convinced of the good" 

nesa of Jiazlsm that he readily believed Hitler'a only con-

cerns to be Bolshevism and the treatment of Germans living 

in other c o u n t r i e s . ^ That Hitler intended to employ his 

growing armies for anything other than a defense against 

the possibility of an invasion never entered Schmidt's 

thinking. Before signing the protocol resulting from his 

visit to Berlin, Heurath applied pressure on such questions 

as lazi integration into the Austrian Government, a cessa-

tion of repressive measures against the Austrian Nazis, and 

a broader exchange of newspapers, but Schmidt had been so 

impressed by Hitler1s explanation of the European situation 
OQ 

that he apparently took the demands as just and correct, 

*®GFP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Ger-
man Foreign Minister (Neurath), 15 November 1936, doc. l80, 
Series P, X, 3^7 * 

•^GFP, Memorandum by Chief of Presidential Chancellory 
(Meissner) to German Foreign Minister (Keurath) concerning 
Hitler-Schmidt conversation, If November 1936, doc. l£l, 
Series v, 1, 539-51*1• 

on 
GFP, Memorandum by Heurath, German Foreign Minister, 

21 November 1936, doc. 18I4., Series D, I, 3^7. Also. GFP, 
German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 2i| November 
1956, doc. 185, Series D, I, 3)4.8. 
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At this meeting, the attitude to the Bolshevists had been 

defined, questions in the cultural and economic fields 

were settled, and progress was made on the repatriation of 

21 
refugees, 

the most important accomplishment was the change in 

Schmidt *s attitude towards Nazi Germany. Now the Germans 

had a man who w m thoroughly pro**$ft2i, a M he h©M Schu-

schnigg's confidence, It seemed to be a tremendous ad-

vantage to the German cause. But Schuschnigg** interpre-

tation of the negotiations made it appear that Hitler was 

not as unreasonable as imagined. Immediately steps were 

taken to stiffen Austrian policy both against Cierman am-

nesty demands and against demands for Nazi appointments to 
pp 

government positions, 

Schuschnigg, apparently on the same basis that he 

stiffened M s policy on amnesty and S&zla in the govmrmimtp 

then attacked liazia in general* In a speech at Klagenfurt 

on 26 Sovemtoer, h® said that Austria had three opponents! 

Bolshevism, Nazism, and defeatism within its own ranks. 

Hasten was limited to that Nazism within Austria when he 

called it an internal problem, but his meaning was clear 

2*GFP, German Foreign Ministry to the - German Diplo-
matic Missions, 21 Hovember 195^# doc# l8j# Series l>̂  1, 
386. 

^GFP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papea) to 
Hitler, 2k November 1956, doc, 185, Series D, I, 5I4.9, 
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to Berlin.2'* Neurath immediately expressed shook and aston* 

ishment at Schuschnigg*s speech, -and told Papen to ask the 

Austrian Chancellor if he thought measures could be taken 

against the Austrian Kazls and still go along with Germany 

on questions of race.2** Upon receipt of the protest from 

Berlin, Schuschnigg replied he had spoken only to those 

elements of the Fatherland Front that were opposed to the 

Axistro-German Agreement in an attempt to appease them* He 

also said that the position of Vienna was below Berlin's in 

carrying out the historic mission of the German race, but 

that integration of the Nazis in the government would have 

to proceed slowly because of the opposition from the Father* 

land Front. Schuschnigg concluded his interview with von 

Papen by asking for time.2^ Apparently the Berlin govern-

ment was pacified, for nothing else was said and no further 

protest was registered. 

However, at the suggestion of von Papen, German aid to 

the German Nazis in Austria was separated from the German 

aid to the Austrian I&ssls. The idea in this case was to 

finance the Austrian Nazis to a greater degree than before 

23GFP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to German 
Foreign Minister (Keurath), Z1[ November 1956, doc, l&L 
Series D, I, 350. 

• ̂ GFP, German Foreign Minister (Neurath) to German 
Ambassador in Austria (Papen), 28 Kovember 1936, doc* 187, 
Series D, I, 351. ' 

25q-fp# German Ambassador in Austria (Papen ) to Hitler, 
2 December 1936, doc. 191, Series D, I, 361. 
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and reap the increased political ores sure which would "be 
p / 

the by-product of such a change» la a result of this 

additional pressure, 3ch.uachnigr; could not continue !»• 

definitely to disregard Nasi demands, especially if they 

came from an internal organisation that had been declared 

legal in the Austrian court3• 11th this maneuver, the 

year 193& came to a close« 

In Austria, the possibility of a restoration of the 

Kapaburgs be came very remote, in spite of the continued 

agitation for it, for the relations between Austria and 

Germany were considerably relaxed and Austria was enjoying 

much more stable conditions. The Austrian Nazis were not 

trying to set up a new government, but rather their task 

was one of getting people into the Kazi Movement so that 

a situation could be set up that would be easy for Germany 

to assimilate. As for Germany, the Agreement had made the 

aim. of annexation much easier, for it had given the Nazis 

a freedom of action they had not enjoyed for a long time. 

It also put the German question up for German settlement 

only, and without the interference of other powers• The 

motive of getting the Austrian question oat of the diplo-

matic limelight had been a success. However, movements 

toward Anschluss still had to be taken slowly and delib-

erately, as the striking power of the reich was not strong 

26qpp# German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Gorman 
Foreign Minister (Neurath), 1-3 December 1936, doc, I92 
Series D, I, 362. 
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enough to afford an error. After on© failure, Hitler 

was not anxious to experience another.2? 

Tli® year 1937 "began for Chancellor Schuschnigg with 

pressure by the laais from three directions. Early to 

January, Captain Leopold, head of the Austrian Kazis, sent 

an informal memorandum to the Austrian Cabinet, Of course, 

the Cabinet did not formally receive the note, as the act 

Itself would l-ave been recognition of the Kazis as a polit-

ical entity, but it was considered. In this memorandum, 

Leopold demanded full amnesty for political prisoners, rec-

ognition of the Austrian National Socialist Party, author-

ization to provide relief to the victims of political quar-

rels, restoration of normal legal conditions, freedom for 

cultural and national-political activities, and measures for 

political equality,2® 

The direction of the second pressure exerted by the 

Nazis came from within Setoschnigg's Cabinet, Both Keuatadter-

Sturmer and Glalae-iiorstenau, pro-Nazi Cabinet members, be-

gan to support the lazi demands for an organisation to foster 

the German-National idea and the integration of Mazls into 

the government, They justified their views on the basis that 

the Kazis vculd never cooperate with the Austrian Government 

27gfP, German Ambassador In Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 
9 January 1937, doc. I97, Series E, I, 373-37IJ.. 

p f i : . 

* , Affidavit of George lesser smith. 28 August 19k5. 
doo, I76O-PS, XXVIII, 279-289. 7 
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unless they were allowed a voice in it, but this was little 

More than an excuse, as they hoped to fores Schuschnigg to 

a decision, on the status of the Austrian N a z i s . 2 9 

The third, pressure came in the form of another com-

plaint from Germany on the amnesty and refugee questions. 

The complaint on amnesty was about the speed with which 

the Austriana were accomplishing it# Berlin worked on the 

theory that the sooner the lazis could infiltrate all phases 

of the government, the sooner they could proceed to wreck 

it. The refugee question was pushed to get as many Nasi 

agents into Austria as soon as possible. The entrance of 

the refugees into Austria would also aid the claim of self-

determination when the time was propitious to apply it»^° 

Schuschnigg reacted to the increased Nazi pressure in 

two ways. He attempted to counter the pressure by allowing 

Monarchist activities to resume. Germany Immediately pro-

tested and went so far as to initiate plans to invade Aus-

tria in the event a restoration was attempted. The inten-

tion to invade Austria was justified to Mussolini on the 

basis of a German-Yugoslavic agreement which would not allow 

restoration, and Mussolini accepted it. Actually, the sit-

uation was not as acute as German activities represented it 

29gfp„ German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 
9 January 1937, doc. 19k, Series 33, I, 36)4.-565. 

5®GFP, German Foreign Minister (Neurath) to German -
Ambassador in Austria (Papen), -27 January 19*57. doo. 206* 
series z, it 585-504* 
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to be, but most certainly, the resolve not to allow res-

toration of the Ilapsbur^s was foreign to the principle 

of self-determination.51 

Hie other reaction to Hazi or©3sure by Sohuachnigg was 

the ere at ion of the Committee of Seven, which had the func-

tion of discussing nationalistic ambitions with the Chan-

cellor 30 that internal tensions could be relieved. On 

8 February, the Committee of Seven submitted a petition to 

Sehuseimigs, through Qlalae-Horstenau, for the establish-

ment of an organization for the iazis* Three statutes for 

the proposed Nasi organization were attached to the peti-

tion, Schunchnigg promised a decision by 13 February, and 

on 11 February, he met with the Committee to discuss the 

petition. 

Sshusohnigg first asked that the statutes for the pro-

posed Nazi organization be withdrawn, which the Committee 

declined to do. Accordingly, Schuschnigg refused them an 

organisation on the basis of pressure from the Fatherland. 

Front • However, at this same meeting, the Consriittee got 

the Chancellor's agreement to have the Fatherland Front 

^•TlfWC, Affidavit of Qoorge Cesser smith, 28 August I9I4.5, 
doc, 1760-PS, JJCVlll, 2 9 0 - 2 9 1 , Also, GFP, Memorandum by 
the Counsellor of the German Embassy in Italy (Plessen), 
23 January 1937, doo. 20i+, Series D I, 381 . Also, GFP, 
German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 13 February 
1937# doc, 209, Series D, I, 588, Also, KCA, Order to 
prepare for the invasion of Austria In the event of an 
attempted restoration in Austria, 2I4. June 1957, doc. 
C - 1 7 5 , VI, X006-1011. 
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establish liaslon with the Nazis and handle their griev-

ances, promise a reform of emergency legislation, expedite 

the amnesty program, consider Hauls for civil service ap-

pointments, investigate reports of persecution of the Kazis, 

and remove gradually those persona from office most objec-

tional to the N a z i s H e n c e , Schuschnigg's attempt to re-

lieve Internal tensions culminated in his receiving pres-

sure from both the Fatherland Front and the Basisand, 

once again, he was obliged to make concessions, fills was 

one more example of indirect Nazi intervention in the in-

ternal affairs of Austria, m the work of the Cosmittee of 

Seven was directed from Berlin• 

The remainder of 1937 progressed in much the same 

fashion as the first two months. First the Austrian Nazis 

or Berlin would originate another complaint or demand; then 

Schuschnlgg would move to counter or pacify the Nazis» 

Sometimes countermoves were required by either the Austrian 

Nazis or Berlin, but almost inevitably, Schuschnlgg was 

forced to make one more concession to maintain the peace, 

Heurath's celebrated visit to Vienna in the latter part 

of February, the Austrian Cabinet crisis in March, the 

appointment of Arthur Seyss-Inquart to the Cabinet at Hit* 

ler'a Insistence in June, and dozens of other similar 

320PP, German Ambassador in Austria {Papen) to Hitler, 
13 February 1$$?, doc,. 210, Series D, I, Also, 
TMWC, Affidavit of George liessersmith, 28 August I9I4.5, 
do©. 1760**3, XXVIII, 291. 
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incidents testify eloquently to this process of German 

Intervention.53 in all of the diplomatic and political 

maneuvering in 1957, Schuschnigg continually emphasized 

that Austria desired to cooperate with Germany, but not 

at the price of Austrian independence.& Nevertheless, 

the Nazis progressed in their aims. By 21 July, all but 

twenty-nine Nazis had received amnesty, and they would be 

free by December« Seyss-Inquart, the new Minister of In-

terior, controlled the Athletic League, which was the newly 

formed Nazi organization in Austria. The integration of 

Nazis into the Austrian Government progressed rapidly tinder 

the stxpervlsion of the pro-Nazi Cabinet members.35 Such 

was the Nazi progress, despite the fact that, on two sep* 

arate occasions, the Austrian police found positive evi-

dence of German support and direction of all Nazi activities 

in Austria. 

35gfP, Memorandum by Keurath, 25 February 1957- doc. 212* 
Series B, I, 297'-398• Also, GPP, Memorandum by Beurathu 
27 February 1937* doe. 21$, Series D, 1, 399*400. Also, GFP, 
German Ambassador in Austria (Papen} to Hitler, 21 March 1937, 
doo*< 218, Series P. I, JL|JL1 • Also, German Aabassador in'Aus* 
tria (Papen) to Hitler, 26 May 1937, doc. 227, Series D, I, 

3^GFP# Ministerial Director von Weizsacker to German 
Foreign Office, 10 June I937, doc. 257, Series D, I, Mn , 

35&FP, Minute by Ministerial Director von Weizsacker. 
21 July 1957, doc. 25.5, Series D, I, U50. 

3^0FP, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 
12 lay 1937, doc. 233, Series D, 1, i^o. Also, GFP. German 
Ambassador in Austria-(Papen) to Hitler, Ik Jul? 1937.. 
doc. 21#, Series D, I, ̂  ^ 7 y 0 (' 
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Finally, In September, Chancellor Schuschnlgg took a 

completely negative stand on further concessions to Germany 

on the grounds that he knew of high Berlin officials who 

were seriously considering the absorption of Austria, He 

also maintained that Germany was doing all It could to In-

fluence Internal Austrian policies in violation of the 

Austro-German Agreement of 11 July 1936, Schuschnlgg had 

no intentions of taking S&ais into the policy making levels 

of the government but would incorporate them only insofar 

as they could be used to divide the Nazis one against the 

other. The status quo would be maintained, and further 

concessions would result only under tremendous pressure,57 

November was the climactic month of 1937, for the 

Austrian police uncovered what became known as the Tavs 

Plan. It bared the German intentions toward Austria with 

a legibility all could read. Rudolf Hess, Vice-Chancellor 

of Germany, was the author• In this scheme, Hess proposed 

that, since the world was in a state of considerable unrest, 

this was the moment for Germany to annex Austria. The 

Austrian Kazls would begin the process by creating internal 

disturbances, and then Germany, after informing Kussollnl, 

57gfp, German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to German 
Foreign Minister (Neurath), 1 September 1 $31, <3oc. 251, 
Series D, X, i4.57-i1.58. Also, GPP, German Charge d» Affaires 
in Austria (Stein) to German Foreign Ministry, ll}. October 
1937, doc. 263, Series D, I, I4.73. Also, German Charge 
d*Affaires in Austria (Stein) to German Foreign Ministry, 
23 October I937, doc. 266, Series D, I, I4.76-I4.77, 
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would send an ultimatum demanding that Nazis be integrated 

into the Austrian Government, If Austria resisted, Ger-

many would invade and conclude the Anschluss, If Austria 

acceded, the Austrian Nazis were to permeate every function 

Of the government, and Germany would conclude an evolution-

nry Anschluss» Actually, He as assumed that Schuschnigg 

would not be able to quelch the created unrest, and Germany 

would invade,**® Austria did not know that just twenty days 

earlier, on 5 November, Hitler had set out three alternative 

plans for German aggression, in which Austria was first on 

the list in every c a s e # 5 9 fh© discovery of the Tavs Plan 

was enough to bring relations between Austria and Germany al-

most to the breaking point. In such a status, the year I937 

oame to a close, •'' > t 

In the other fields of foreign relations, Germany had 

not been at all idle# It was common knowledge in the Ger~ 

man Government that Anschluss was a primary aim, and, con-

sequently, German diplomats from Goering to Neurath to 

Wilhelm Xeppler and on down the diplomatic ladder worked to 

swing Mussolini's interest away from Austria• At first, 

Italy would not mak© any definite commitment, but by October 

3%CA, Affidavit of Kurt von Schuschnigg, 19 November 
19k5» doc. 299I4.-PS, V, 707. Also, Telford Taylor, Sword 
and Swastika, p. 178. 

39hca, Hosabach Memorandum, 10 November I937, doc. 386-P3, 
III, 3OO-3OI. Also, JfCA, Testimony of Soaring, Supplement B, 
1091*11O2. 
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I95f> Italy could not defend Austria militarily and was, 

in fact, in agreement with Gorman policy.^0 

As for England, the British Ambassador to Austria, 

Seville Henderson, told von Papen that England wanted the 

settlement of grievances without war, and that England 

would accept the German solution of the Austrian problem.^1 

In other words, England asked Germany to go quietly about 

her dirty work, • As a result of the British attitude. 

Hitler had no worries about France, for she did not dare 

act without England at her aide• Thus, the state was set 

on an international basis for future German moves• 

The years 1936 and I937 were ones of preparation in-

sofar as Germany was concerned * Beginning with the Austro-

German Agreement of 11 July 193&, Germany undertook a pro-

gram of terroristic diplomacy for which it is hard to find 

a companion, and by the end of 1937, Austria was very def-

initely the loser in an unequal contest• Meanwhile, in 

her relations with other nations, Germany proceeded to 

knock Austria^ supports from under her and effectively 

blocked the possibility of interference once an Anschluss 

was begun* The scene had been cleverly devised and set; 

the only thing lacking was a propitious moment to forget 

self-determination, 

^CGFP, Memorandum by German Ambassador in Italy (Hassel) 
50 January 1936* doe* 207, Series D, I, 5^5* 

German Ambassador in Austria (Papen) to Hitler, 
1 June 1937, doc. 288, Series D, I, 1̂ 27* 



CHAPTER V 

THE PINAL STEP 

The final step in Hitler's prostitution of aelf"deter-

mination "began in January 195$» At von Papon*» suggestion, 

Hitler extended an invitation to Schuschnigg to meet with 

him at Berchtesgaden so that they could find some way to 

relieve the strain in Austro-German relations. Schuschnigg 

agreed to the proposed meeting, but on the basis that he 

would be Informed of the subjects to be discussed and that 

the agenda was followed# Tb& meeting was then scheduled for 

12 February.1 

During the interval between the arrangement of the 

meeting between Schuschnigg and Hitler and 12 February, Nasi 

pressure on Austria was by no means decreased or dormant. 

On the one hand, Seyss-Inquart met with Schuschnigg and de-

manded new concessions for the Austrian Basis. Of the many 

demands presented, Schuschnigg agreed to release all of the 

Nazis still imprisoned because of their part in the attempted 

putsch in 195^, the restitution of pensions and retirement 

benefits for those 'Nazis who had been involved in the at-

tempted putsch, the cessation of economic discrimination 

against Nazis, the inclusion of Nazis in developing economic 

%urt von Schuschnigg, Austrian Requiem, p. 10. 

f\S 
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political and military relations, a press truce, the or- i-

ganization of Nazi clubs and trad# unions, the establish- . 

ment of an equal legal status for Sazis, and the appoint-

ment of Seyss-Inquart to the control of several govern-

mental oonsaittees «** Herein the Kazis gained quite a list 

of advantages, hut in light of the pending meeting with Hit-

ler, Schusclmigg did not want new points of friction to 

arise, and his policy of appeasement was "brought to the fore. 

The efforts of Seyss-Inquart were almost sabotaged by 

the activities of Captain Leopold and the Austrian Legion» 

Leopold was simultaneously carrying on separate negotia-

tions with Schuschnigg with the support of Glaiae-Horstenau. 

In effect, Hitler had two forces working for him which con-

stituted a split in the Sasl movement• Hitler much prefer-

red the evolutionary process of continuously drawing con-

cessions from Schuschnigg, as such measures did not create 

undue international interest in Austria# However, the fact 

that these two B&ssi factions existed allowed Schuschnigg to 

play the lazis in his government against each other, both 

against the Austrian Nazis, and all against Germany. Con-

sequently, as long m Schuschnigg could hold the various 

elements of the Fatherland Front together, he could retain 

control.' 

%FP, Memorandum by Wilhelm Keppler, 10 February 19 58, 
doc. 290, Series D, I, 507-508, 

5GFP, Commissioner of Economic Affairs (Keppler) to 
Senaan Foreign Minister (Heurath), Z February 195°, <*oo. 218, 
S#ri®s B, 1, U97. 



88 

Hitler apparently did not have an immediate Anschluss 

in mind when he met with Schuschnigp;. At least, the sub- ( 

ject was not brought up in this conn®otion• Rather, he 

wanted to relax the existing tensions in Austro-Gorman re-

lations by coming to an understanding with Sohusohnlgg over 

the status of fasis in Austria and toy improving the economic 

and political relations within the frame of th© Austro-Ger-

man Agreement of 195 

In keeping with Nazi policy, terroristic tactics were 

used. From the time Hitler and Schuschnigg met until the 

time they parted, Schuschnigg was treated as a gross infer-

ior and blasted verbally with barrages of abuse that lasted 

for hours. In those momenta apart from Hitler, Schuschnigg 

was intimidated by a goodly portion of the German High Com-

mand ,5 and during the afternoon of 12 February, a proposed 

protocol was handed to Schuschnigg that provided for « w y -

thing but direct annexation. An immediate signature was 

expected by Hitler, but Schuschnigg refused on the basis 

that he did not have the authority to commit his country. 

Hitler flew into a blind rage over Schuschnigg1* stand• A 

survey of the provisions of the proposed protocol explains 

the indignation experienced by Austria's Chancellor. 

H« Baynes, editor, The Speeches of Adolph Hitler, 
April 1922-Au^ust 1.939* II, Tp^. 

5Schuschnlgg, o£. olt•. pp. 16-17. 
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The proposed protocol first demanded that Seyss-Inquart 

be appointed Minister of Public Security la addition to his 

other posts. The appointment would have given complete con-

trol of the police system to the Nasla. The second para-

graph demanded that Hans Flschboeek, a confirmed la«i# be 

appointed to administer Austro-German economic relations. 

By this appointment, Berlin hoped to control the major forces 

In the Austrian eoonomy. The third paragraph called for com-

plete amnesty to those involved in the attempted putsch of 

25 July 3.956, and the fourth provision called for the rein-

statement of those I&zis who had been relieved of their 

duties. The latter two meant that those persona involved in 

the attempted putsch would regain their positions, many of 

which were within the police system. The fifth provision 

called for an exchange of officers between the parties of 

the protocol. In effect, the German military was to be 

given full access to the Austrian Army, end it was little 

more than a type of infiltration. These first five para-

graphs spelled out in bold type the destruction of Austrian 

ipdependence, and it was readily recognized by Schuschnigg, 

However, the real trap lay in Paragraph Six. • It called 

for the official recognition by the Austrian Government of 

the Nasis and their absorption into the Fatherland Front 

where they would be allowed activities under Austrian law. 

In addition, the Nazis were to be allowed to profess their 

creed without interference. The difficulty was a matter of 



90 

definition, for exactly what the Nazi creed was and. the dif-

ference between Illegal and legal activities Imd not been 

clarified, As the provision was given to Schuschnigg, its 

observance would have been a matter of who was interpreting, 

it. For the Nazis, Paragraph Six meant complete freedom t© 

carry on their program, and anything leas would have meant 

a storm of protest that Austria was not abiding by her agree-

ments* 

The seventh and last paragraph of the proposed protocol 

recognized the Independence of Austria and promised complete 

disinterest in Austrian internal affairs on the part of Ger-

many#^ - This one was little more than propaganda for con* 

sumption by England and France * British policy, in partic-

ular, was one of appeasement, and in his attempt to stay out 

of any situation that might lead to war, Seville Chamberlain 

was willing to accept almost anything, Hitler had provided 

for him amply, 

Schuechnigg finally signed the protocol in almost the 

same form as it was originally presented, but Im made it 

clear that only Mlklaa could approve it as a matter of policy, 

Miklas accepted the protocol as an agreement of foroe, yet 

vigorously opposed the appointment of Seyss-Inquart to the 

Ministry of Security, However* in accepting the protocol, 

Mlklas assumed that England, France, and Italy would not 

X̂bjld • t pp » 21—22» 
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allow Germany to invade Austria and accomplish a union. 

Why he mad© such m assumption was strange, Indeed, for the 

Western Power® had already Ignored Austria's attempts to 

get guarantees of its independence 

At the announcement of the Protocol of 12 February I93S, 

Schuschnlgg received immediate criticism and pressure from 

within the Fatherland Front, which be came so strong he con-

sidered resigning. His thoughts turned to resignation pri-

marily because he believed Austria had been deserted by her 

foreign supporters, but the internal dissension must have 

had its effect on him. Huge amounts of capital funds were 

sent out of the country, the still illegal lasi Party in* 

creased the tempo of its operations, members of the Cabinet 

threatened resignation, and the Catholic elements of the 

country blasted him. Schuschnlgg would have been something 

leas than human not to have felt alone in his dealings with 

Germany. 

However, Schuschnlgg retained his position, reorganized 

his Cabinet in terms of the Protocol, granted the amnesty, 

reinstated those who were granted the amnesty, appointed 

Nazis to positions in the Fatherland Front, and arranged for 

8 
the exchange of officers between the two states. Step by 

TtJCA, Testimony of Mlklas against Rudolf Neumaver, 
30 January I9I4.6, doc. 3697-PS, Supplement A, 518-5511.. 

%FP, German Charge a'Affaires in Austria (Stein) to 
German Foreign Office, 17 February 1958, doc, 306, Series D, 
1, 526-527. Also, Schuschnlgg, 0£. clt., pp. 28-29, 
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step, Austria was handed over to lazlsa a© Schos chnigg fol-

lowed his decision of appeasement, and "by the time the Pro-

tocol was complied with, there was little left for Germany 

to do, except convince the world it should meogRlm the 

union. Hitler was on the threshold of his first aim, hut 

any resemblance of his methods to the ideas of self "-deter-

mination which he professed was mere coincidence• 

Germany -undoubtedly recognized its position with re-

spect to Austria, and two moves were made to implement that 

position* The first was the initiation of military pressure 

on Austria by staging sham maneuvers, passing false traffic 

over military radio circuits, initiating rumors, and alert* 

lug the Austrian Legion. Hitler ordered and approved this 

step as early as 1J4, February, although in a speech to the 

Reichstag on 20 February, he denied any military activity.^ 

The liazis' second move to insure their position in 

Austria was the replacement of Leopold as head of the Aus-

trian Kazis. Hitler called him to Berlin to release him and 

forbad® him to re-enter Austria. Leopold had the tendency 

to Ignore the over-all Kassl plan, and since Hitler wanted 

a peaceful Anschluss to prevent foreign intervention, Leo-

pold's actions did little to help that aim. Unlike Leopold, 

9MQA$ Memorandum by Neurath, 3J4. February 1938. doc, 
fS, IV, 357. Also, Te* - - - - - • 
&• Also, Baynes, op. < 

20 February 1938, II, 1I4X0*" 

I775-PS, XV, 357• Also, Telforcl Taylor, Sword and Swastika, 
p. 181. Also, Bayn.es, op. cit., Speech to'"'SeleSl¥ag 
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Hitler realized that If the Protocol were carried out, 

Anschluss would have to corae.*® 

In Prance, the negotiation® at Eerchteagaden were fol-

lowed with interest, but with a feeling of impotence, as In-

tervention by any Western Power was considered out of the 

question* Schuschnigg's acceptance of the terms of the Pro-

tocol was viewed as a submission to German presauro, and as 

a defeat for Mussolini# France thought Austrian indepen~ 

denoe was a high price for Italy to pay for German support 

in Africa* But the real position of the French was shown 

vrhen Rlbbentrop denied them the right to Intervene* lie called 

the Austrian problem one for German solution only, and Prance 

11 

accepted the position. 

The British did not understand quite how the Protocol 

cam© about or what it meant, so they decided simply to wait 

for developcwmts, An inquiry was made by Anthony Uden^ but 

h© received the same answer Prance was given, which was ac-

cepted. By 28 February, Chamberlain saw nothing in tha Pro-

tocol to worry about, as it was merely a legal extension of 

10GFP, Memorandum from the files of Wilhela Keppler on 
stationery of the German Foreign Office, but it was not 
signed| 22 February 1958, aoc*'5l8# Series D, I, 559*$bl* 
Also, GPP, Ilenorajodton by %'ilhelm Keppler# 28' February 1938, 
doc* 328, Series D, I, 5^9, 

^GFP, German Embassy in FriHe© to German Foreign 
Ministry, '16 February 19 30, doc. Series D, 1, 
Also, GPP, Memorandum by Rlbbentrop, 17 February £938-
doc. 308, Series D, 1, 529-531. 
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the Austro-German Agreement of 11 July 1956. Consequently, 

Britain had no reason for intervention in Austria.*^ 

Mussolini, strangely enough, assured Schuschnigg that 

Italy retained her old position behind Austria and agreed 

that Austria had taken a viae course,^-3 Apparently, Schu-

schnigg did not appreciate the degree of solidarity between 

Berlin and Rome, for he later counted on Italian support 

when he called a plebiscite for 13 March. 

Undoubtedly, Hitler was pleased with the reactions of 

the major nations of Europe to the Protocol, for it practi* 

cally guaranteed him non-intervention once he began overtly 

to consume Austria# The advance of the liaai moves was 

checked somewhat by Schuschnigg'a speech to the Bundestag 

on 2I4. February in which he declared that Austria w&B German 

in history, character and culture. However, he went on to 

aay that Austria did not want Nazism or union with Germany 

on any basis* Both criticism and congratulations were forth-

coming as a result of the speech, and concern was almost 

universally registered• The most important result was the 

German Charge d»Affaires in Great Britain 
(Woermann) to German Foreign Ministry, 17 February 19*8, 
doc* 503, Series D, I, 525. Also, GPP, leaoranfiua by'the 
German State Secretary (Ileppler), 18 February 1938 doc* 
510, Series D, I, 532. Also, GPP, German Embassy in 
Or»*t Britain to German Foreign Ministry, k March 1938. 
doo. 331, Series D, I, 553~55k» 

*3Schuschnigg, o£-« oit., p. 32• 
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pledge of the laboring class, which constituted most of the 

Socialist element, to support the Chancellor in his stand 

for independence 

Despite this check in their progress, only four days 

later, the lasis were parading openly in defiance of the 

decrees of the Government to the contrary. They were uni-

formed in eome places, armed in others, and always well 

disciplined. The police system had been so thoroughly sabo-

taged that confusion was conoaon, and no one was really sure 

of the policies to be followed. Business was dead, tha 

schools were closed, and the Jews the new subjects of per-

secution, And it was all obviously directed from Germany,^ 

The Ilazi effort# were so openly apparent in Graz, tha 

Styrian capital, that Seyss-Inquart was sent to pacify them. 

Instead of quieting the situation, he intensified it by 

saluting in the Masi manner while he observed one of the 

demonstrations he was supposed to quiet„ By 2 March, the 

agitation from the Basis was so strong that more concessions 

1 £ 
had been wrung from Schuschnigg, ° 

likJFP, Gorman Anbassa&or in Austria {Papon) to Hitler, 
2ij. February 1938, doc, 32I4., Series D, I, 514.5, Also, OF?, 
German Ambassador in Austria' (Fapen) to German- Foreign 
Ministry, 25 February 1938, doo, 325, Series I>, I, 546# 
Also, Sohusohnigg, o£, cit., PP. 35$ 55$ 51* 

^5schuachnigg, o£# cit»« p, Ju, Also, llev York Times. 
1 March 1958, p, 1. 

l6»ew York Times» 2 Mar©h 1938, p. 1, Also. New York 
Tines, T1ft5Sn5J87p. 1?. 
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The Chancellor became highly resistant to more German 

pressure, and he began measures to enforce the existing 

laws against the Illegal lag! Party. Too, Major Bail Fey 

informed him that 80,000 men could be organized immediately 

from the Helmwehr to oppose the Nazis, a move Schuschnigg 

supported, Schuschnigg also felt that he had a better posi-

tion after the Socialist working class began to negotiate 

to support him in maintaining independence 

Despite the resistance offered by Schuschnigg, pressures 

were still exerted by Kazl demonstrations in Llnz and Vienna, 

Usually, these activities were staged by a small minority 

of any given population, but they were so well organized and 

executed that the government stopped them only by giving up 

more to the Nazi demands.2*® Finally, Schuschnigg was under 

such tremendous pressure that he made the most unexpected 

move possible. On 9 March 1938, he called for a plebiscite 

to decide on the independence of Austria, 

Actually, Schuschnigg had thought about resorting to a 

plebiscite some weeks earlier, but he did not come to a de-

cision until the evening of 8 March, while he was in con-

ference with his chief advisors. The plebiscite was chosen 

•^Hew York Times. % March 1938. p. IS, Also. lew-
York Times."lTT£arch~T938. p. 1. Also. lew York Times? 
I F M E J F Q I X xypo| p • x « 

^%ew York Times. 5 March 1938, p. 1, Also, lew 
York Times. 6 Karch 193o. p. 1, Also. lew York Times. 
I T W r W W B , P. 15, ~ ' 
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toecause Schuschnlgg felt that he was forced Into it, but the 

fact that a heavy -rote for independence was more than probable 

did much to bring it about. To insure the outcome, the time 

lapse between the announcement and the voting was very short 

and the age limit was raised to twenty-four years of age, 

but the basic assumption was considered certain. Otherwise, 

Schuschnigg could not have taken the rIsk.-M? 

Reaction to the proposed plebiscite was almost isimedi&fcd* 

During the night of the announcement, clashes occurred be-

tween the Nazis, Fatherland Front and police, and, early in 

the morning of 10 March, Seyss-Inqiiart met with Schuschnigg 

to lodge a protest. The Chancellor replied that the plebis-

cite contained nothing contrary to either the Austrian Con-

stitution or the agreements with Germany, and he expected 

all Nazis to vote for Austrian independence since the vote 

was really no more than an Austrian affirmation of the points 

20 
agreed on at Berchtesgaden. 

Thursday, 10 March, was a busy day in Austria, The 

Keservists were mobilized to provide a force to maintain 

order, the Nazis staged disorders whenever possible, the 

19GFP, German Charge d»Affaires in Austria (Stein) to 
German Foreign Ministry, 10 March 1938, doc. Series Df 
I, 566-568• Also, Taylor, op. cit., pp. l8l-lo2. Also, 
New York Times. 10 March I93B, p. if. 

2°Schuschnigg, op. cit., p. lj.0. Also, lew York Times., 
11 March 1938, p. 1. 
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border was closed to Germany, and the workers decided to 

support Schuschnlgg without reservations. Likewise, the 

Socialists, Communists, Catholics, Monarchists and all other 

groups pledged their support for independence, and Schu-
0\ 

schnlgg's position was, apparently, somewhat stronger 

Upon receipt of the announcement of the plebiscite, 

Germany took quick steps. Hitler first dispatched V/ilhelm 

Keppler, Secretary of State, to Vienna with instructions 

either to stop or alter Austrian plans, and Seysa-Inquart 

was told to stay out of any negotiations as much as possible* 

The Immediate reaction of the German press was alienee, but 

once the situation was understood, it condemned the plebis-

cite as over-hasty, of doubtful legality, tricky, not secret, 

and of dubious validity* Generally, the press characterized 

the whole affair as a travesty on justice and not a true re-

flection of the people's will,22 

Hitler also ordered the execution of Case "Otto", which 

was the German plan for the Invasion of Austria* At the 

tine, nothing had been done on it, as it was originally in-

tended for use in event of a Eapsbur^ restoration, but within 

21lSE M M . ***»*. 12 31958, p« I* 

^GPP, Seraan Foreign Ministry to German Embassy in 
Great Britain, 9 March 1938, doc, 539, Series D, I, 562. 
Also, OFF, German Foreign Ministry to German Embassy in 
Great Britain, 10 March t$3$* doc« 5if2# Series E, I, 5&W 
Also, New York Times. 10 March 1958, pp. 1, li}-. 
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the next few hours the roles of the a m y and' air force had 

been outlined In detail. The date for invasion was set at 

IE March. Finally, the moment was propitious to achieve 

the first goal of German expansion,2^ 

Reaction to the announcement of the plebiscite was quite 

limited and contradictory in Italy, To Austria* Mussolini 

said that their policy was right and should be continued at 

all costs, but the plebiscite was called a saistals®. To CkMF* 

many, Mussolini said that he had advised against a plebiscite 

and thought it was wrong. However, in view of the fact that 

Hitler wrote Mussolini a letter justifying his intervention, 

the Italian attitude was understandable» Mussolini needed 

German support, and Austrian independence had long slnoe 

ceased to be a point of Italo-German contention,*^ 

England and Prance took the position that the plebiscite 

should be carried out without intervention or intimidation, 

as they were anxious to maintain the status quo. Officially, 

neither of them made a commitment, which indicated their 

passive attitude.^5 

25HCA, Directive lumber 1, 11 March 1958, doc, C-102, 
VI, 911-912. Also, Taylor, 0£. clt.» pp. if6, 182, 

%£JPP# Minute by Y/eizsacker, 11 March 1938 , doc, 3I4.9, 
Series I>, I, 572. Also, GPP, Hitler to "Mussolini, 11 If&reh 
1938, doc, 552, Series t, I, 573-575, 

25GFP Memorandum by British Ambassador in Germany 
(Henderson) to German Foreign Minister (Neurath), 10 March 
1938, doc. Series D, I, 5 7 6 . Also, New York Times. 
11 March 1938 , p. 1. 
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Hitler's move to Initiate an invasion first reached • 

Schuschnigg early In the morning of 11 March, when the 

Austrian General Consul in Munich called to inform him that 

the German divisions around Munich were mobilized with the 

presumable destination of Vienna * A Cabinet meeting was 

called, and Glaise-Korstenau reported that Hitler was furi-

ous over the plebiscite and warned Schuschnigg he had made 

a mistake* The Chancellor retorted that he saw no reason 

for Hitler's reaction since the plebiscite was an internal 

Austrian affair• And the matter was quickly dropped• 

Schuschnigg was informed, further, that he could not 

trust the police system. The amnestied Naala had returned 

to their old jobs and many others had Infiltrated Into the 

system making it completely useless. Hitler's methods were 

working beautifully. 

The Fatherland Front had mobilised and was available 

to help maintain law and order, but in terms of the defense 

of the nation, Schuschnigg discovered that it would not 

fight against Germany. This was despite the fact that only 

the day before, the various elements of the Fatherland Front 

had pledged full support to Schuschnigg to preserve their 

independence• The attitude of the Fatherland Front was a 

setback of considerable proportions to the Chancellor, for 

he had invested heavily on it. When it was needed moat, 

it hesitated. 
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As the tension of the threat of Invasion grew, Schu-

schnigg decided not to call on France 03? England for support# 

Ke node hia decision on the basis of a oorasiunication from 

Italy which Informed him that the Italian Government was not 

in a position to offer advice. Until then, every Austrian 

move had been taken with the assumption of Italian support, 

and after that support was withdrawn, it made little sense 

to ask for aid elsewhere» Too, France did not have a g o v 

ernment at th© time, and England had her hands full with 

Ireland and the Orient ̂  

Early in the afternoon of 11 March, Keppler wet with 

Miklas and told him Germany wished the plebiscite would be 

postponed and that certain changes in the Austrian Govern* 

meat be considered Germany denied that Kappler issued 

an ultimatum, but when Miklas refused to comply with the 

German request, a military ultimatum was not long in its 

appearance * 

It arrived in Vienna at I+JI4.5 P. K„ via a telephone call 

from Germany to Seyss-Inquart• Goering ordered Seyss-Inquart 

to inform Schuschnigg that the plebiscite had to be revoked 

within an hour or Germany would invade Austria* In the face 

of a threatened invasion, Schuschnigg agreed to postpone the 

^sehusehnigg, gju cit», pp. hi» 

27GPP, Memorandum by Altenburg, 12 Starch 1938, doc, 370* 
Series D, I, 588-589. 
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plebiscite, but no sooner had he agreed than Goering demanded 

the Chancellor1® resignation and his replacement by Seysa-

Inquart. A deadline of 7»50 P * M * was placed on the demand • 

Either It would be met or German troops would cross the 

borders. 

Schuachnigg resigned in compliance with the ultimatum, 

and then told his country that Austria was surrendering only 

under force• Miklas refused to appoint Seyss-Inquart imme-

diately, and Schuachnigg remained nominally at the head of • 

the government, but by midnight, 11 March, Nazi pressure was 

so great that Miklas acquiesced. By liOO A.M., 12 March, a 

new Cabinet had been appointed, and a message had been dis-

patched to Berlin asking for help to restore order» This 

plea for aid was ordered by Goering and quite unnecessary* 

Austria was essentially quiet« nevertheless, early the 

same morning, the German armies began their march into 

Austria*^® 

Actually, the Austrian Government was controlled by the 

NaKis hours before the first German troops crossed the bor-

der# During the course of 11 March, Schuachnigg realized 

2%CA, Testimony of Goering, Supplement B, II29-II35* 
Also, KCA, Transcription of telephone calls between Goering 
and Seyss-Inquart, 11 March 1938, doc. 29^9-PS. V, 628-65L 
Also, KCA, Testimony of ̂ illielw liklas, doc* jSqt-FS, Sup-
plement A, 518-53!}.. Also, GFP, Austrian Minister of Interior 
(Seyss-Inquart) to Hitler, 11 March 1938, doc. 358, Series D. 
I, 580. Al=o, Hew York rfmea. 12 Mar oh £938, p. 1, 
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that new people were in most of the offices and they were 

S&zis. It was truly & tribute to the effectiveness of tor 

Papen' s program to undermine and infiltrate the government 

and ft manifestation of Hitler's intervention in the internal 

affaire of Austria. The invasion toy German troops did lit-

tle more than give point and power to the threats of Hitler 

and Goering.2^ 

Despite the fact that each and ©very act of the Nazis 

categorically denied any association with the ideas of self-

determination, Hitler began to justify his acts on this same 

theory. Before he left Berlin early on 12 March, he Issued 

a statement that he was on his way to save six and one-half 

million Germans from an oppression to which they had been 

subjected and to extend to them the full rights of self-

determination # 3© 

Later in the day, Hitler called self-determination the 

factor decreeing a union. He accused Sohuschnigg of denying 

the Austrian people this right, and declared that it was his 

duty to intervene to see that it was afforded to them. In 

such a fashion, Hitler's presence in Austria was explained.2
1 

29schuschnigg, o£. cit., p. 50* Also, Taylor, ££. cit., 
p. 185• 

3°New York Times, 13 March I93Q* P« !• 

^Baynes, op. cit., Proclamation of 12 March 1938* 
Il4.i7-ll4.l8. Also, lew York tines* 1J Mar eh 1938, p. 55* 
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On 15 March, Seyss-Inquart read the proposed Anaohluss 

Law to the newly formed Cabinet In accordance with his in-

structions from Hitler, Without objection, discussion or 

debate, the law mm passed, and Austria was legally a part 

of Germany, A provision of the law called for an election 

on 10 April to verify the union, "but it was superfluous. 

Hitler1 a aim was already an accomplished fact 

The Salification of Austria took place in a series of 

rapid moves. No sooner had the Anschluss Law been passed 

than Hitler issued a decree which integrated the Austrian 

Army into his own forces. Secondly, Josef Buerckel was ap-

pointed to head the province of Austria# He superseded 

Seyss-Inquart and all who had worked for the downfall of 

Schuschnigg, The entry of German troc-pa ran smoothly, on 

the whole, and they sped to every border to insure the per-

manence of the union. Of course, the Kazia took control of 

the police, radio, newspaper and transportation facilities, 

and the efficiency with which they worked demonstrated the 

thoroughness of their planning. Orders, decrees, dismissals, 

and appointments came in rapid succession. All Catholic and 

Jewish organizations were dissolved, youth institutions were 

*̂ TJCA, Testimony of Wolfgang Troll, doc, 3697-jPS, Sup-
plement A, 557-538, Also, G5T, Memorandum of German Foreign 
Officei 15 March 1938, doc. 3%, Series D, I, 591-592, Also, 
Barnes, op, clt.. Speech at Konigsberg, 25 March 1938, II, 
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turned over to the Hitler Youth organization, and by night-

fall of llf. March, the last vestiges of an independent Aus-

tria were no sore*53 Hitler's original plan to destroy 

Austria from within had resulted in ooiaplete success, but 

self-determination was prostrate* 

In Italy, the reaction to the feachlusg was essentially 

no more than an endorsement of Gorman intervention. Musso-

lini approved the event by calling it "internal German poli-

tics w and a "development of the national movement,n Hitler 

had arummoed his intervention as a move to insure self-

determination, and Mussolini merely echoed him. Of course, 

it should be remembered that liitler had justified his raove 

earlier and given Italy guarantees of continued relations 

and the Brenner Pass as the Italo-German frontier.^ 

The reaction to the events of the Anaohlusa by England 

were more numerous than Italy's, but in strength, somewhat 

leas, v'hen a rumor of the German ultimatum reached London, 

Seville Henderson, British Ambassador in Germany, told Keurath 

tliat Britain would protest strongly if the rumor were true* 

However, England docilely accepted Keurath's answer when he 

Btawr York 13 larch X9$8, p« 1. Also, lew 
York Tlaa&a&mreK"*I95o. p. 1* ""**** 

5^0PF#•Hitler to KuBsollnl, 11 March 1938, doc. 352, 
Series D, I, 575-575• Also, Hew York Tlraea. 15 March 
p • 1» 
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replied to the English protest with the following curt 

message! 

In this situation dangerous consequences could 
only come into play if an attempt should be made by 
any third party, in contradiction to the peaceful 
intent ions and legitimate aims of the Reich, to ex-
ercise on the development of the situation in Austria 
an influence inconsistent with the right of the Ger-
man people to self-determination,*5 

The British Government then approved of the invasion and 

"took note" of the proceedings.^ 

This position was justified by the rationalization that 

England had fulfilled all her obligations, which were con-

sultations only, and it would have taken a large armed force 

to halt the German invasion# In essence, England1s only pro-

test was over the methods Hitler had used. Had Hitler eased 

into Austria more gracefully, it is doubtful that England 

would have said anything at all. After all, the hallowed 

phrase "self-determination" had been uttered.37 

The French Government received rumors of the German 

ultimatum at about the same time as England, and immediately 

35GFP# British Ambassador in Germany (Henderson) to 
German Foreign Minister (Jteurath), 11 Kerch I 938 , doc, 355, 
Series D, I, 578. Also, GPP, British Ambassador in Ger-
many (Henderson) to German Foreign Minister (Neurath), 
11 March 1938, doc. 35I}., Series D, I, 577 . Also, Neville 
Chamberlain, In Search of Peace, pp. 71-73. 

S^GFP, British Ambassador in Germany (Henderson) to 
Goering, 13 larch 1938, doc. 376 , Series Dt I, 593 , 

3?GFP, German Charge d*Affaires in Great Britain 
(Woermann) to German Foreign Ministry, 14 March 1958 , 
doc. 386, Series D, I, 601. Also, Chamberlain, op. cit., 
PP. 13, 99* ~ 
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CHAPSEB VI 

CONCLUSION 

In tli© course of its development, the principle of 

self-determinatIon was connected to tins modern concepts 

of democracy# By I9I8, the nation-state was regarded as 

the political expression of the democratic will of the peo-

ple by those who subscribed to the idea of self-determination. 

The Peace Conference, which followed Y/orld l&r I, was sup-

posedly committed to this notion, and, although self-deters 

mination was not the ultimate criterion of the judgments of 

the Peace Conference, it was applied according to the pria» 

ciples of democratic rule when used. 

In a sense, the nations which had talked of self-deter-' 

mination the most had misused it by substituting something 

©Is® in it# stead* In most cases, self-determination simply 

would not work, or the victorious Allies felt that their 

national safety would be jeopardized by its application* 

However, the intent of the Allies was not to use self-deter-

mination as a kind of camouflage for planned aggression. 

On the other hand, Adolph Hitler intended to follow a 

course of aggression, even before he rose to power in 1932. 

Once the Nazi Party controlled Germany, there was no doubt 

about the future of the state within the policy making levels• 

1 fso 
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The annexat ion of Austria waf the initial alnu Gradually, 

economio, social and political pressures were brought against 

Austria from without, Internally, the existing government 

was undermined and infiltrated to the degree that the i&els 

were effectively in possession before the invasion of the 

German military# 

This process of pressure and infiltration lasted from 

I932 to 1938. Of necessity, it was a slow process, for Ger-

many could not afford to become directly involved until the 

German Army had been re-built» Further, the Nazi cause suf-

fered a complete failure in I93J4., which jeopardized the pos-

sibility of success* As a result, the planned program of 

German expansion was delayed by active Austrian resistance 

and the German desire to avoid foreign Intervention* But 

in no sense was the German aim for an Anschluss altered* 

The little change that did occur was one of technique only#. 

Meanwhile, the activities of the Nazi movement were hid-

den behind the German protestations that all people should 

have the right of aeIf-determination• According to Hitler, 

it was the guiding principle for all German foreign policy, 

and the nations to which this propaganda was directed ac-

cepted it at face value• Peace waa their main eonoern^ and 

they were willing to follow a policy of appeasement to achieve 

it* Consequently, the German avowal of self-determination 

furnished an excuse to avoid affairs which could precipitate 

another European war# In effect, Hitler's use of self-
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determination waa no more than a diversionary tactic to 

lure the Vies tern European powers Into a policy of non-

intervention, 

Of course, there was no need for the German fraud of 

self-determination In Italo-Gorman relations after 1936* 

and Hitler's task of mollifying the world "became much 

easier. Italy had once again repeated the sar.e role she 

had played before entering the war in 1914# Always, the 

policy of Mussolini was to vacillate between commitments 

until he was sure he had gained all he could in terms of 

benefits for Italy. Finally, Mussolini thought he stood 

to gain the most by casting his lot with Hitler as a result 

of the Abyssinian venture, but in doing ao, he abrogated 

his commitments to Austria, which effectively nullified the 

bargaining position of Schuschnigg, whether Schuschnigg 

knew it or not• And most certainly, the Rome-Berlin rela-

tionship was known to Hitler, who could use it to his own 

best advantage. 

Public opinion probably had a great deal of influence 

on the official attitude of both Prance and England, as 

the general trend of thought was in line with the thinking 

which had followed the Peace Conference in I9I9# World 

War I had been the war to end all wars, and the very idea 

of another was preposterous to the masses of people. Con-

sequently, had the statesmen of the time just prior to the 

Anschluss talked of the actions of Hitler in terms of his 
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starting another war, they moat probably would have lost 

control of their governments. As statesmen, however, 

they should have at least told their people exactly -what 

the International situation was a M let them decide for 

themselves. Political considerations were apparently more 

Important than the total welfare of the nations• 

Events within Trance and England, however, had a 

good deal to do in the attitudes of oach. In Prance, 

Cabinet crisises were common, and at the time of the 

Anschluss. the French had no government at all. Meanwhile, 

the British were having their own internal troubles« The 

Irish were demanding independence and the British colonies 

In the Orient were occupying much of England*s time and 

energy. These circumstances explain, but do not justify, 

the weakness and vacillation in the foreign policies of 

Er&nee and England. 

Kurt von Schuschnigg was apparently a man who did not 

truly realize the total situation within which ho worked. 

Prom the time of the Auatro-German Agreement in 1936 until 

the lasi invasion in I93S, he continually granted new con-

cessions to demands that either came directly from Germany 

or were instigated by her. It soeins inexplicable that he 

did not call on the support he thought he had in Italy, or 

take his problem to the League of Nations. Perhaps he 

knew long before 11 March 19 38 that he no longer had the 

support of Italy and thought he could stand up against 
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Germany alone# But, since ha also knew there were many 

elements in Austria that did not agree with his policies 

and on whom he could not count for support, it again seems 

unreasonable that he thought he could stand against the 

constant German pressure• Apparently, he did not consider 

an appeal to the League of $atlone, as the possibility wafl 

never mentioned. By the time ho was in serious trouble, the 

League had already ignored the Italian venture into Abyssinia 

and Germany's entrance into the Rhlneland, and he may have 

realized that the League was an impotent agency. 

Hitler1s basic prostitution of self-determination was 

his adoption of It for propaganda purposes. As noted before, 

the principle of self-detemination developed in connection 

•with the modern ideas of democracy, and it was thought of m 

a manifestation of the will of the people. In lazi Germany, 

the state was not a democracy, but rather a dictatorship. 

Consequently, the adopt ion of eelf-deteraination as a matter 

of policy was impossible by virtue of its connection with the 

democratic ideas, for the people did not hold the power of 

the government• Had the other nations of Europe oared to 

look, this Inconsistency could not have escaped notice. Be-

cause they did not care to notice, one of the greatest frauds 

of modem history was perpetrated. Actually, each of the 

incidents which followed Hitler * s adoption of self-deter-

mination was only a practical application of an Idea distorted* 

But the deception was so complete that detection oame too late. 
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